# Panel on the Nonprofit Sector

# Interim Report Presented to the Senate Finance Committee

March 1, 2005

### PANEL ON THE NONPROFIT SECTOR

# **Co-Conveners**

Paul Brest, President,
William and Flora Hewlett Foundation,
Menlo Park, California
M. Cass Wheeler, Chief Executive Officer,
American Heart Association, Dallas, Texas

# **Executive Director**

Diana Aviv, President and CEO, INDEPENDENT SECTOR, Washington, D.C.

# **Members**

Susan Berresford, President and CEO, Ford Foundation, New York, New York Linda Perryman Evans, President and CEO, The Meadows Foundation, Dallas, Texas Marsha Johnson Evans, President and CEO, American Red Cross, Washington, D.C. Brian Gallagher, President and CEO, United Way of America,

Alexandria, Virginia
Kenneth L. Gladish, Chief Executive

Officer, YMCA of the USA, Chicago, Illinois Robert Greenstein, Executive Director,

Center on Budget and Policy Priorities,
Washington, D.C.

Stephen B. Heintz, President and CEO, Rockefeller Brothers Fund, New York, New York

Wade Henderson, Executive Director, Leadership Conference on Civil Rights, Washington, D.C.

Dorothy Johnson, President Emeritus, Council on Michigan Foundations, Grand Haven, Michigan Paul Nelson, President, Evangelical Council for Financial Accountability, Winchester, Virginia Jon Pratt, Executive Director,

Jon Pratt, Executive Director, Minnesota Council of Nonprofits, St. Paul, Minnesota

William C. Richardson, President and CEO, W.K. Kellogg Foundation, Battle Creek, Michigan

Dorothy S. Ridings, President and CEO, Council on Foundations, Washington, D.C.

John R. Seffrin, President and CEO, American Cancer Society, Atlanta, Georgia

Sam Singh, President and CEO, Michigan Nonprofit Association, Lansing, Michigan

Edward Skloot, Executive Director, Surdna Foundation, New York, New York

Lorie A. Slutsky, President, New York
Community Trust, New York, New York

William E. Trueheart, President and CEO, The Pittsburgh Foundation, Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania

William S. White, President, Charles Stewart Mott Foundation, Flint, Michigan

Timothy E. Wirth, President, United Nations Foundation, Washington, D.C.

Gary L. Yates, President and CEO, The California Wellness Foundation, Woodland Hills, California

Raul Yzaguirre, Immediate Past President and CEO, National Council of La Raza, Washington, D.C.

# Preface

Nonprofit organizations are an indispensable part of American society. The country's network of nearly 1.3 million charitable and philanthropic organizations offers relief in times of disaster, nurtures our spiritual and creative aspirations, cares for vulnerable people, and finds solutions to medical, scientific and environmental challenges. Charitable organizations occupy a central place in every community, drawing upon the talents and generosity of and providing service to an enormously diverse group of people.

The Panel on the Nonprofit Sector is dedicated to ensuring that charities and foundations remain a vital and responsive force in America and around the globe. Convened at the encouragement of the U.S. Senate Finance Committee in October 2004, the Panel seeks to help the nonprofit sector meet the highest ethical standards in governance, fundraising and overall operations. Participating in the Panel's work are more than 175 experts and leaders drawn from across the country and reflecting a wide spectrum of experience in the sector. The Panel also has sought input from hundreds of other interested nonprofit organizations to inform its work. These efforts highlight two of the defining characteristics of the nonprofit community: its willingness to take initiative to make improvements, and its commitment to collaboration.

The following report sets forth the Panel's initial recommendations for strengthening the accountability of charities and foundations. The report begins by describing the composition, reach and accomplishments of the sector, background that is essential to understanding the Panel's recommendations and reasoning, and by explaining the process by which the Panel drew upon the expertise of practitioners and scholars throughout the nonprofit community. It then lays out the overarching principles that guided the Panel's analysis. The main section of the report provides recommendations for specific rules and practices intended to strengthen the sector today and in the years to come. The report concludes with a summary of the areas of study that will be the basis for the second phase of the Panel's deliberations.

PAUL BREST

President

William and Flora Hewlett Foundation

Chief Executive Officer

American Heart Association

Co-Conveners, Panel on the Nonbrofit Sector

# Table of Contents

# Executive Summary 4

# **SECTION I Introduction 8**

Dimensions of the Nonprofit Sector 9

The Panel on the Nonprofit Sector 9

Factors that Led to the Creation of the Panel on the Nonprofit Sector

Convening of the Panel on the Nonprofit Sector

Report Timetable

Panel Work Groups

Panel Advisory Groups

Panel Research

Staff Support and Funding

About the Process

# **SECTION II Principles to Guide Improving the Accountability and Governance of Charitable Organizations 13**

# **SECTION III** Recommendations of the Panel on the Nonprofit Sector 17

Recommendations to Improve Transparency in Charitable Organizations 18

- 1: Internal Revenue Service Information Returns 19
- 2: Financial Audits and Reviews 23
- 3: Annual Notification Requirement for Organizations Not Filing Information Returns **26**

Recommendations to Enhance Governance of Charitable Organizations 28

- 4: Conflict of Interest Policy Disclosure **29**
- 5: Audit Committees **31**
- 6: Reporting of Suspected Misconduct or Malfeasance 33

Recommendations to Strengthen Government Oversight of Charitable Organizations 34

- 7: Donor-Advised Funds **35**
- 8: Rules for Valuation of Property Contributions 39

- 9: Penalty Taxes on Self-Dealing and Other Violations 40
- 10: Type III Supporting Organizations **42**
- 11: Tax Shelters 44
- 12: State Enforcement of Federal Laws 46
- 13: Funding for Federal and State Enforcement 47
- 14: Information Sharing Between Federal and State Officials 48
- 15: Public Disclosure of IRS Determinations 49

# SECTION IV ISSUES THE PANEL WILL CONSIDER FOR ITS FINAL REPORT 50

Issues Continued from the Interim Report 51

Additional Issues for Examination **51** 

Transparency **51** 

Governance **52** 

Accreditation and Standard-Setting **54** 

Government Oversight **55** 

# **SECTION V APPENDIX 58**

Citizens Advisory Group 59

Expert Advisory Group **59** 

Governance and Fiduciary Responsibility Work Group 60

Government Oversight and Self-Regulation Work Group 61

Legal Framework Work Group **62** 

Transparency and Financial Accountability Work Group 63

Small Organizations Work Group 64

Funding the Work of the Panel on the Nonprofit Sector 65

Letter from the Senate Finance Committee Leadership to INDEPENDENT SECTOR, September 22, 2004 **67** 

Letter from Independent Sector to the Senate Finance Committee

Leadership, October 12, 2004 inside back cover

# Executive Summary

# PRINCIPLES TO GUIDE IMPROVING THE ACCOUNTABILITY AND GOVERNANCE **OF CHARITABLE ORGANIZATIONS**

In developing its recommendations, the Panel on the Nonprofit Sector's work was guided by the following eight overarching principles:

- 1. A Vibrant Nonprofit Sector Is Essential for a Vital America.
- 2. The Nonprofit Sector's Effectiveness Depends on its Independence.
- 3. The Nonprofit Sector's Success Depends on its Integrity and Credibility.
- 4. Comprehensive and Accurate Information about the Nonprofit Sector Must Be Available to the Public.
- 5. A Viable System of Self-Regulation Is Needed for the Nonprofit Sector.
- 6. Government Should Ensure Effective Enforcement of the Law.
- 7. Government Regulation Should Deter Abuse Without Discouraging Legitimate Charitable Activities.
- 8. Demonstrations of Compliance with High Standards of Ethical Conduct Should Be Commensurate with the Size, Scale and Resources of the Organization.

# RECOMMENDATIONS

This interim report includes recommendations to improve governance and oversight of the charitable sector that call for action by the sector, by individual charitable organizations, by the Internal Revenue Service, and by Congress. The following recommendations have been abbreviated to facilitate quick review, the full recommendations corresponding to the recommendation numbers below are provided in Section III of this report.

# **Recommendations to Improve Transparency of Charitable Organizations**

- 1. To ensure that the annual information returns (Form 990, 990-EZ, or 990-PF) filed by charitable organizations with the IRS provide accurate, timely information about the organization's finances, governance, operations and programs, the IRS should.
  - a. Require that the returns be signed. under penalties of perjury, by the chief executive officer, the chief financial officer, or the highest ranking officer of the charitable organization, or, if the organization is a trust, by a trustee of the organization.
  - b. Fully enforce existing financial penalties imposed on organizations or organization managers for failure to file complete and/or accurate returns.
  - c. Suspend the tax-exempt status of any charitable organization that fails to comply with filing requirements for two or more consecutive years after appropriate notice from the IRS.
  - d. Extend the penalties imposed on preparers of personal and corporate tax returns for omission or misrepresentation of information, or disregard of rules and regulations, to preparers of Form 990 series returns.
  - e. Move forward expeditiously with mandatory electronic filing of all Form 990 series returns, including modifications to allow for separate attachments and accommodations needed by smaller organizations to facilitate compliance.

- f. Coordinate federal e-filing efforts with state e-filing requirements.
- g. Require that the application for recognition as a tax-exempt organization under Section 501(c)(3) be filed electronically.
- 2. To improve the accuracy and completeness of financial information on charitable organizations, Congress should require all charitable organizations that must file a Form 990 or 990-PF to:
  - a. Have an audit conducted of their financial statements and operations if they have \$2 million or more in total annual revenues, or have financial statements reviewed by an independent public accountant if they have at least \$500,000 and under \$2 million in total annual revenues.
  - b. Attach legally required audited financial statements to their Form 990 or 990-PF
- 3. To improve the accuracy of lists identifying organizations qualifying for taxdeductible contributions, Congress should require charitable organizations to:
  - a. File an annual notice with the IRS if they are excused from filing an annual information return because their annual gross receipts fall below \$25,000. Failure to file this notice for three consecutive years should result in automatic suspension of tax-exempt status, following an appropriate phase-in period.
  - b. Notify the IRS if and when they cease operations and to file a final Form 990 series return within a specified period after termination.

# **Recommendations to Enhance Governance in Charitable Organizations**

To improve governance practices, every charitable organization should:

- 4. Adopt and enforce, as a matter of best practice, a conflict of interest policy tailored to its specific needs and its state laws.\*
- 5. Include individuals with some financial literacy on its board of directors consistent with state laws or as a matter of good practice; and consider establishing a separate audit committee of the board if the organization has its financial statements independently audited.
- 6. Establish policies and procedures that (1) encourage individuals to come forward with credible information on illegal practices or violations of adopted policies of the organization, and (2) protect individuals who make such reports from retaliation.\*

The charitable sector should implement vigorous sector-wide efforts to educate and encourage all charitable organizations to implement these recommendations.

The IRS should require all charitable organizations to disclose whether they have a conflict of interest policy on their annual information return.

# **Recommendations to Strengthen Government Oversight of Charitable Organizations**

7. Donor-advised funds are funds owned, controlled and administered by a public charity where the donor retains the right to make recommendations regarding the

distribution or investment of those funds. Donor-advised funds are an important means of stimulating charitable contributions from donors who wish to contribute to current needs or build endowments for long-term needs. To ensure that donoradvised assets are used exclusively and appropriately to advance charitable purposes, Congress should:

- a. Define the term "donor-advised funds" in law \*\*
- b. Prohibit public charities from making grants to private non-operating foundations from assets held in donor-advised funds
- c. Enact minimum activity rules requiring public charities holding donor-advised funds to (1) contact the donors/advisors of funds that have been inactive for a period of years to request advice and (2) make distributions or revoke advisory privileges if there has been no activity in an individual donor-advised fund account for a specified period.
- d. Prohibit public charities from knowingly using assets held in a donoradvised fund to (1) reimburse donors/advisors or related parties for expenses incurred by them in an advisory capacity for the selection of grantees; (2) compensate donors/advisors or related parties for services rendered, if all or substantially all of such compensation is paid from the relevant donor-advised fund: or (3) make grants to the donor/advisor or related parties.

<sup>\*</sup> The Panel plans to provide model policies in its final report.

<sup>\*\*</sup>The Panel plans to provide specific recommendations on these issues in its final report.

- e. Require public charities that own and administer donor-advised funds to include on forms used to recommend potential grantees a donor certification that the grant will not provide any substantial benefit to, or relieve any obligation of, the donor, the advisor or any related party.
- f. Prohibit public charities that own and administer a donor-advised fund from knowingly making grants from that fund to satisfy a legally binding charitable pledge of the donor/advisor.
- 8. The appropriate valuation and disposition of non-cash contributions deserves close examination in the context of all public charities. New legal safeguards against abuse by charities or taxpayers may be required, but any changes to federal law should not discourage individuals or corporations from making valuable non-cash contributions to charity nor force charities to dispose of donated property in a manner that would diminish its financial value to the charity.\*\*
- 9. Penalties and anti-abuse rules should be modified carefully to deter inappropriate actions without unjustly punishing individuals for inadvertent violations. Congress should:
  - a. Increase first-tier excise taxes imposed on foundation managers and disqualified persons who knowingly participate in self-dealing transactions.\*\*
  - b. Modify the standard for imposition of penalties on organization managers to provide a realistic possibility that such penalties will be imposed on managers when appropriate.\*\*

- 10. Congress should enact targeted anti-abuse rules, accompanied by appropriate penalties, to eliminate the inappropriate use of Type III supporting organizations while maintaining the availability of such organizations for legitimate charitable purposes.\*\*
- 11. Congress should develop appropriate anti-abuse provisions, with sufficient penalties, to deter charitable organizations from participating in listed tax shelter transactions.\*\*

To improve enforcement of charitable regulations at the state and federal level. Congress should:

- 12. Encourage states to incorporate federal tax standards for charitable organizations into state law
- 13. Increase the resources allocated to the IRS for oversight and enforcement of charitable organizations and also for overall tax enforcement.
- 14. Allow state attorneys general and other state officials charged by law with overseeing charitable organizations the same access to IRS information currently available by law to state revenue officers. under the same terms and restrictions.

# **Next Steps**

A large part of the Panel on the Nonprofit Sector's work lies ahead. Additional concerns related to strengthening the governance, ethics and accountability of charitable organizations will be addressed in the Panel's final report to be released in the spring. A detailed list of issues the Panel plans to address in its second phase of work appears in Section IV of this interim report.

# SECTION I

# Introduction

America's philanthropic and charitable organizations play a distinctive role in American society and around the globe. These approximately 1.3 million public charities, private foundations and religious congregations commit their resources and efforts to enriching life in communities worldwide. The nonprofit sector encompasses organizations involved in virtually every aspect of human endeavor. Whether dedicated to the advancement of knowledge and creative expression, the support of free speech, or the protection of vulnerable people, nonprofit organizations fulfill their missions with the help of millions of volunteers and professionals.

Among the great accomplishments of this sector:

- The 9-1-1 emergency response system was developed with the support of the Robert Wood Johnson Foundation, Today, an effort is underway to create the 2-1-1 information network led by the United Way of America that will connect people with health and human service programs in their communities.
- The Global HIV Vaccine Enterprise brings together some of the world's leading scientists and nonprofit organizations to expedite the creation of an HIV vaccine. Created by the Bill and Melinda Gates Foundation, this initiative has stimulated new collaborative research and funding from the private and public sectors
- Prevention is at the heart of the work of Youth & Shelter Services, Inc. in Ames, Iowa, which targets teenagers and families

- at risk. For thirty years, YSS has focused on programs to prevent and reduce tobacco use, chemical dependency, teen pregnancy, juvenile crime, and emotional disorders.
- Nonprofit medical and mental health facilities in Montana and Wyoming have come together to create the Eastern Montana Telemedicine Network, which links patients and physicians from rural areas to specialized services that otherwise are hundreds of miles away. Through interactive video conferencing, patients receive real-time health services, counseling, and education. Today there are more than 200 such networks nationwide

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>The scope of this report is intended to address public charities, private foundations and religious congregations—those nonprofit organizations that fall under IRS section 501(c)(3).

- The banning of the harmful pesticide DDT has helped revive the declining populations of bald eagles, ospreys, peregrine falcons, and other endangered birds. Efforts to prohibit its use were supported by nonprofits such as Environmental Defense and spurred the birth of modern environmental law
- In the last two decades, more than 36 million students have learned how to confront prejudice and bigotry through the Anti-Defamation League's "A World of Difference" classroom training program.

# **DIMENSIONS OF THE NONPROFIT SECTOR**

The number of public charities and private foundations in America has nearly doubled over the last twenty years. Designated by the Internal Revenue Service as section 501(c)(3) organizations, they currently employ approximately 11.5 million people. The sector is predominately composed of small organizations, with 64 percent of all 501(c)(3) nonprofits operating with budgets of under \$500,000 per year. Only 6 percent of nonprofit organizations have annual budgets larger than \$10 million, though this group accounts for a considerably larger portion of the sector's overall activity. The American people contribute approximately \$201 billion annually directly to charitable institutions, and the country's 65,000 private foundations and corporate giving programs provide an additional \$40 billion toward charitable endeavors. A number of nonprofits also serve as the instruments through which government discharges some of its obligations, and are partially funded through public dollars.

To encourage widespread philanthropic giving and enable nonprofits to fulfill their missions, federal and state governments have provided the incentive of tax deductions to encourage donors to increase their gifts and have exempted nonprofits from paying most taxes. This special status is based on the expectation that the activities of nonprofit organizations serve the common good and are not conducted for private gain.

### THE PANEL ON THE NONPROFIT SECTOR

# **Factors that Led to the Creation** of the Panel on the Nonprofit Sector

The vast majority of charitable organizations<sup>2</sup> conduct their work in an ethical, responsible and legal manner. As in the commercial and public sectors, a small number of individuals and organizations have abused the public trust placed in them by engaging in unlawful or unethical conduct. Particularly after the corporate governance scandals that marked 2002, the national media has reported on allegations of questionable conduct by trustees and executives of public charities and private foundations. In some instances, the alleged abuses were clear violations of the law. In other cases, questions were raised about whether the practices at issue met the high ethical standards expected of the charitable sector.

While recognizing that only a small number of charitable organizations engaged

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Throughout this report, the term "charitable organizations" is used to refer to public charities. private foundations and religious congregations, unless otherwise specified.

in such conduct, leaders of the U.S. Senate Finance Committee and state legislators across the country asserted that further legislative and regulatory action might be necessary if illegal and excessive practices continued. Their concern resulted in a hearing convened by the Senate Finance Committee in June 2004, which was followed in July by a Committee staff-led roundtable at which sector leaders responded to a Senate Finance Committee staff discussion draft<sup>3</sup> of possible remedies to the problems that had emerged. Many national and local organizations had long shared the concerns of the Senate Finance Committee leadership that unethical actions of even a few bad actors had the potential to undermine the good work of the entire sector. As a result, the nonprofit community recognized the need to come together to find ways to better address these issues.

# **Convening of the Panel** on the Nonprofit Sector

On September 22, 2004, the chairman of the Senate Finance Committee, Senator Charles Grassley (R-IA), and the ranking member, Senator Max Baucus (D-MT), sent a letter to INDEPENDENT SECTOR<sup>4</sup> encouraging it to assemble an independent group of leaders from the nonprofit charitable sector to consider and recommend actions to strengthen governance, ethical conduct, and accountability within public charities and private foundations. In response, on October 12, 2004, INDEPENDENT SECTOR announced the Panel on the Nonprofit Sector, naming 24 distinguished leaders from public charities and private foundations as its members.

Panel members represent large and small nonprofit organizations, community founda-

tions and membership associations, organizations that operate worldwide or in a single state. The missions of these organizations encompass a broad spectrum of causes, all of which promote the public good.

# **Report Timetable**

The Senate Finance Committee leadership requested an interim report from the Panel by February 2005 and a final report by the spring of 2005. Anticipating that there may be additional concerns requiring further consideration following the final report, the members of the Panel plan to continue to meet through the fall of 2005 and may offer additional comments

# **Panel Work Groups**

In order to benefit from the immense expertise within the sector, the Panel convened five Work Groups to address many of the issues identified by lawmakers:

- Governance and Fiduciary Responsibilities:
- Government Oversight and Self-Regulation;
- Legal Framework;
- Transparency and Financial Accountability; and
- Small Organizations.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> See Senate Finance Committee staff discussion draft, 108th Cong. (2004).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> INDEPENDENT SECTOR is a nonprofit, nonpartisan coalition of approximately 500 national public charities, private foundations, and corporate philanthropy programs, collectively representing tens of thousands of charitable groups in every state across the nation.

In total, the five Work Groups include over 100 professionals and other experts from the nonprofit sector who have agreed to volunteer their time and talent to support the Panel's work. Work Group members are leaders drawn from a diverse array of national, regional and local organizations. They include noted academics and practioners, state oversight officials and executives of public charities, foundations and corporate giving programs.

# **Panel Advisory Groups**

As part of an effort to compile and utilize the knowledge and perspectives of as many individuals as possible, the Panel on the Nonprofit Sector created two Advisory Groups. The Expert Advisory Group is drawn from the ranks of academia, law and nonprofit oversight, and brings particular expertise to the issues being considered by the Panel. The Citizens Advisory Group is comprised of leaders of America's business, educational, media, political, cultural and religious institutions who provide a broad perspective on how these issues affect the public at large.

### **Panel Research**

So that it can make informed recommendations during the forthcoming phase of its work, the Panel is initiating a series of research projects. These studies will analyze:

- Models of self-regulation, accreditation and standard-setting within the nonprofit sector and other relevant areas.
- Internal Revenue Service Forms 990 and 990-PF, in order to identify recommendations for improving the value of these forms as a credible source of public information on charities and foundations

• How targeted Americans perceive the nonprofit sector and their views of the sector's meaning and impact on their lives.

# **Staff Support and Funding**

The work of the Panel on the Nonprofit Sector in this initial phase has been supported by staff under the leadership of the Panel's executive director<sup>5</sup> and a team from a law firm that specializes in the law of exempt organizations. 6 The Panel staff is also working closely with other consultants and experts.

Already, more than 80 organizations, including private foundations, community foundations, public charities, and corporate giving programs, have made financial commitments to support the work of the Panel. These contributions reflect the sector's widespread commitment to supporting the work of the Panel by ensuring it has the funds necessary to achieve the goals set forth by the Senate Finance Committee leadership. The Panel also has benefited from invaluable pro-bono contributions of time and expertise by individuals throughout the sector and the community at large.

# **About the Process**

To advance the Panel's work, its staff and legal team analyzed the issues raised in the Senate Finance Committee staff discussion draft on governance, fiscal management and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> The Panel's executive director is Diana Aviv. president and CEO, INDEPENDENT SECTOR, Washington, D.C.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Leading the legal team from Caplin & Drysdale, Chartered is Robert Boisture, member and group leader of the firm's exempt organizations practice.

ethical practice within the nonprofit sector. Upon receipt of the resulting materials, the Work Groups developed recommendations for inclusion in the Panel's interim report through a series of conference calls and the use of listservs. The Expert Advisory Group reviewed the analysis and conclusions of the Work Groups and added its own recommendations.

Given the unparalleled assembly of talented individuals working on this project, there was the desire by some to expand the agenda to address an even broader range of issues of concern to the sector. Though many issues were thought to be worthy of consideration at some future date, they were not included as part of these initial deliberations in the interest of meeting the timetable set forth by the Senate Finance Committee leadership.

As part of its effort to ensure that its processes were open, inclusive, transparent, and strengthened by the experience of many groups around the country, the Panel posted the draft recommendations of the Work Groups and Expert Advisory Group on its website at www.NonprofitPanel.org and encouraged nonprofit organizations to comment on them. In addition, the Panel convened two national conference calls to discuss both the draft recommendations and the process through which they were developed, and to invite further input from all those interested in the Panel's work. The Panel also benefited from the broad experience of the members of the Citizens Advisory Group.

# Principles to Guide Improving the Accountability and Governance of Charitable Organizations

The following principles have guided the recommendations of the Panel on the Nonprofit Sector:

# 1. A VIBRANT NONPROFIT SECTOR IS ESSENTIAL FOR A VITAL AMERICA

America's voluntary spirit has shaped the history and character of our country since its inception. The 19th century French visitor and scholar Alexis de Tocqueville noted that, from their colonial days, Americans have come together voluntarily to improve the common good. He remarked that this was a distinctive quality of American life, to which there was no parallel in any European society. That great tradition of collaboration, generosity and participation continues today in the form of nonprofit public charities and private foundations.

Our country's expansive network of charitable organizations enriches America's com-

munities by providing vital services in such fields as health, education, social assistance, community development and the arts. The voluntary nonprofit sector provides the means for Americans to engage collectively and collaboratively in critical research, community-building and advocacy efforts that strengthen American democracy, advance freedom of expression, and add richness and diversity to American life. U.S. nonprofit organizations assist victims of disasters, provide educational and economic opportunities, alleviate poverty and suffering at home and abroad, and foster worldwide appreciation for democratic values of justice and individual liberty.

Today, the nonprofit sector remains a creative, vibrant and unique feature of

American life, with thousands of organizations, both large and small, working together to create a better world. Unlike its commercial for-profit counterpart, the public good, rather than personal gain, is at the core of its activities. Any effort to address issues within the nonprofit sector must take into account the sector's diversity and complexity and avoid the unintended consequence of stifling its vitality. Further, any policy changes must be aimed at strengthening the great American traditions of giving to, volunteering in, and serving as leaders, directors and trustees of our charitable organizations.

# 2. THE NONPROFIT SECTOR'S **EFFECTIVENESS DEPENDS ON ITS INDEPENDENCE**

At the heart of the nonprofit sector is its power to bring people together who are committed to solving problems and enhancing the public good. Among the nonprofit sector's great strengths is its ability to pilot new ideas, to respond to needs without delay, to hold government accountable, and to encourage all efforts, both large and small, that will improve the quality of life for people across the country and abroad. Our country must continue to encourage such independent innovation and creativity by allowing charitable organizations the freedom, within a broad range of public purposes viewed by the law as charitable, to define and pursue their mission as they deem best. Government appropriately sets the rules for the use of government funds by nonprofits, but should resist inappropriate intrusion into policy and program matters best determined by the charitable organizations themselves.

# 3. THE NONPROFIT SECTOR'S SUCCESS **DEPENDS ON ITS INTEGRITY AND CREDIBILITY**

Public trust is essential to a viable nonprofit sector. The sector's value to society depends on the extent to which its organizations use their assets exclusively and effectively to advance public purposes. Federal and state laws recognize the value of nonprofit organizations by providing tax exemption and other privileges unavailable to for-profit entities. Americans contribute their resources and time to nonprofit organizations and work through these organizations to serve the common good. Donors, volunteers, consumers of services, and public officials have a right to expect nonprofit organizations to conduct themselves in a manner that will earn and sustain the public trust. To retain and strengthen this trust, nonprofit organizations have an obligation to operate in an open and transparent manner, prevent fraud and the enrichment of insiders and other abuses, and serve the purposes for which they have been created. Board members should ensure these obligations are being met through proper governance and oversight.

# 4. COMPREHENSIVE AND ACCURATE INFORMATION ABOUT THE NONPROFIT **SECTOR MUST BE AVAILABLE TO THE PUBLIC**

To enable and support the public's participation in the nonprofit sector and assure ongoing confidence in the sector, the public must have access to accurate, clear, timely, and adequate information about the programs, activities and finances of all charitable organizations. Government regulation should promote such transparency while providing sufficient flexibility to accommodate the wide range of resources and capabilities of nonprofit organizations. particularly of small organizations.

# 5. A VIABLE SYSTEM OF SELF-**REGULATION IS NEEDED FOR THE NONPROFIT SECTOR**

The vast majority of charitable organizations are committed to ethical conduct and responsible governance and are willing to conform to commonly accepted standards of practice. Such practices are an important component of the effort by the charitable sector to encourage all nonprofit organizations to embrace the highest possible standards of conduct. Whether it be peer review and feedback, coupled with transparency in practice or more complex systems of accreditation, such initiatives, if actively embraced by the sector, are likely to bring about positive change.

Although self-regulation is unlikely to work with those who deliberately and cavalierly violate standards of ethical practice

and are immune to peer pressure, the charitable sector nonetheless must be actively involved in identifying and promoting best practices and strongly encouraging compliance within relevant subsectors. The sector must offer educational programs that reach the entire sector, especially the board members and professional leaders who may not otherwise be aware of the expectations and requirements imposed on them. Both the sector and government should provide the resources necessary to disseminate best practices and to develop and sustain ongoing education efforts to help board trustees to govern and CEOs to operate in a responsible, transparent and accountable manner.

# **6. GOVERNMENT SHOULD ENSURE EFFECTIVE ENFORCEMENT OF THE LAW**

Abuse of the privileges granted nonprofit organizations, while perpetrated by a small number of individuals and organizations. threatens the work of the entire sector and may diminish the generosity of donors. Accordingly, government should authorize and appropriate sufficient resources to facilitate full implementation of the law designed to prevent such abuses. There also should be greater coordination between federal and state oversight officials in order to make best use of limited resources and avoid duplication of work. In addition, government should support sound educational and technical assistance programs to ensure that all nonprofit organizations are familiar with the law and appropriate standards of practice.

# 7. GOVERNMENT REGULATION SHOULD DETER ABUSE WITHOUT DISCOURAGING LEGITIMATE CHARITABLE ACTIVITIES

Regulation is necessary to address instances in which the sector cannot reasonably be expected to deal with those who deliberately abuse the public trust and exploit nonprofit organizations for personal gain. New regulation may be needed where current legal standards have proven inadequate. However, regulation that is not responsive to the diversity of the nonprofit sector has the potential to increase the administrative and financial obligations of compliance to a level that will force some organizations to curtail or even cease their legitimate charitable activities. Particular care should be given to any actions that might deter new donors or discourage responsible volunteers from serving on boards.

# 8. DEMONSTRATIONS OF COMPLIANCE WITH HIGH STANDARDS OF ETHICAL CONDUCT SHOULD BE COMMENSURATE WITH THE SIZE, SCALE AND RESOURCES OF THE ORGANIZATION

All organizations should be expected to operate ethically and serve as worthy stewards of the public and private resources entrusted to them. Fraud or abuse cannot be condoned in any organization for any reason. A breach of the public trust by any organization, large or small, damages the reputation of the entire sector. At the same time, it may not be possible or desirable for small organizations, given their limited human, technical and financial resources, to demonstrate their ethical and accountable operation by complying with some of the more complex legal requirements appropriate for larger charitable organizations. Lawmakers must consider the range of organizations to which regulations may apply, and must refrain from adopting regulations where the costs of demonstrating compliance outweigh the benefits gained.

# Recommendations of the Panel on the Nonprofit Sector

Maintaining public trust in the nonprofit sector requires a balance of vigorous government enforcement, and effective governance of charitable organizations through a viable system of management and governance standards and proactive educational programs that are part of a self regulatory system. The recommendations offered in this interim report include some recommendations for actions by the charitable sector and by charitable organizations and their boards of directors, recommendations for action by the Internal Revenue Service, and recommendations for legislative action to improve governance and oversight of the sector.

These recommendations, while drawing upon the wisdom and expertise of hundreds of organizations and individuals, are those of the Panel on the Nonprofit Sector. Organizations associated with this process as well as others will be encouraged to endorse the recommendations once they have been shared with the Senate Finance Committee.

# Recommendations to Improve Transparency in Charitable Organizations

# 1. INTERNAL REVENUE SERVICE INFORMATION RETURNS

### Issue

Organizations exempt from federal income tax are required to file an annual information return (Form 990, 990-EZ, or 990-PF) with the Internal Revenue Service. For charitable organizations, this annual information return serves as the primary document providing information about the organization's finances, governance, operations and programs for federal regulators, the public, and many state charity officials.

Current IRS regulations permit any authorized officer of the organization<sup>3</sup> to sign Form 990 returns certifying, under penalty of perjury, that the return and accompanying schedules and statements are true, correct and complete. Exempt organizations may receive an automatic threemonth extension to file their Form 990 returns by filing a request on Form 8868, and the IRS has the discretion to grant an additional three-month extension upon a showing of reasonable cause.

The IRS may impose penalties for failure to file a required return or to include required information on Form 990 series returns. These penalties may reach up to \$10,000 or 5 percent of gross receipts per return for organizations with annual receipts of \$1 million or less, and \$50,000 per return for organizations with over \$1 million in annual gross receipts. Although the majority of Form 990 series returns are prepared by professional tax personnel who certify the form under penalty of perjury, 4 current pre-

parer penalties imposed for filing false tax returns do not apply to the preparation of Form 990 information returns.

As a result, too many Form 990 series returns provide inaccurate or incomplete information. Current information often is not available to the public and government officials because of delays in filing and processing the returns. Enforcement is hampered by the high costs of processing paper returns.

- <sup>1</sup> Excluded from this requirement are organizations other than private foundations with annual gross receipts of \$25,000 or less, houses of worship and specific related institutions, specified governmental instrumentalities and other organizations relieved of this requirement by authority of the IRS.
- <sup>2</sup> Throughout this report, the term "charitable organizations" is used to refer to public charities, private foundations and religious congregations, unless otherwise specified.
- <sup>3</sup> For a corporation or association, this officer may be the president, vice president, treasurer, assistant treasurer, chief accounting officer or other corporate or association officer, such as a tax officer. A receiver, trustee, or assignee must sign any return he or she files for a corporation or association. For a trust, the authorized trustee must sign.
- <sup>4</sup> Surveys conducted by the IRS and National Center for Charitable Statistics indicate that approximately 80 percent of all Forms 990 are prepared by professional tax personnel.

# 1. INTERNAL REVENUE SERVICE INFORMATION RETURNS continued

# **Recommendation for Charitable** Organization Action<sup>5</sup>

Charitable organizations should encourage their boards or an appropriate board committee to review the Form 990 or 990-PF. Board members should be familiar with their organization's Form 990 or 990-PF return as it is a central public document about the organization. Depending on the knowledge and expertise of its members, a board may choose to delegate this responsibility to an appropriate committee of the board. This recommendation should be adopted as a "best practice" by all charitable organizations.

# **Recommendations for Internal Revenue Service Action**

1. The IRS should require that the Form 990 series returns be signed, under penalties of perjury, by the chief executive officer, the chief financial officer, or the highest ranking officer, or, if the organization is a trust, by a trustee of the organization. Requiring one of the highest ranking officers in an organization to sign the Form 990 or 990-PF and attest to the accuracy and completeness of its contents will strengthen the effort and oversight organizations devote to the preparation and filing of these returns. It also will ensure that the senior executive officers of charitable organizations are cognizant of and take responsibility for the representations made in their Forms 990 to the public and regulatory officials about their charitable operations.

- 2 Existing financial penalties imposed on organizations or organization managers for failure to file complete and/or accurate returns could provide a sufficient deterrent to non-compliance and should be fully enforced by the IRS. However, increasing financial penalties could present a hardship for charitable organizations, particularly where there are unintentional errors and omissions, and would not necessarily improve compliance unless enforcement is also increased. The Panel therefore does not support the proposal in the June 2004 Senate Finance Committee staff discussion draft to increase existing penalties for failure to file complete and accurate Forms 990.
- 3. When existing penalties for failure to file a required return after appropriate notice from the IRS do not result in compliance by the charity after two consecutive years or more, the IRS should be authorized to suspend the tax-exempt status of any charitable organization. Suspension of the taxexempt status of organizations that fail to file for two consecutive years would mean that such organizations could not receive tax-deductible contributions and their income would not be exempt from taxation until they make appropriate correction and restitution. The IRS should immediately develop procedures for

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Recommendations for charitable organizations are intended to encourage voluntary charitable sector action and do not require government action.

- timely notification of suspension of exemption. The Panel does not support revocation of the tax-exempt status as a cost-effective and appropriate penalty.
- 4. Present-law penalties imposed on income tax preparers of personal and corporate tax returns for omission or misrepresentation of information, willful or reckless misrepresentation, or disregard of rules and regulations should be extended to preparers of Form 990 series returns. Extending penalties to professional tax preparers will improve compliance with Form 990 requirements significantly because they prepare and certify the majority of these forms.
- 5. The IRS should move forward with mandatory electronic filing of all Form 990 series returns as expeditiously as possible. However, before mandatory e-filing can be implemented, the IRS electronic filing system and forms must be modified to allow for separate attachments. The IRS also should be directed to make appropriate changes to the Forms 990 and 990-PF to allow charitable organizations to comply with e-filing requirements in a timely, cost-effective manner and to make appropriate accommodations for organizations with limited annual receipts and assets to comply. Some statutory changes may be required to eliminate particular information requirements that increase the cost and difficulty of implementing electronic filing for large organizations without serving a clear enforcement purpose and to provide appropriate accommodation for smaller organizations that do not

have easy or affordable access to the necessary computer hardware or software for electronic filing.

Electronic filing by all charitable organizations likely will increase compliance with Form 990 requirements significantly and provide the public with more timely access to information on the nonprofit sector. Electronic filing software provides organizations with immediate checks on incomplete and potentially inaccurate information before they file returns, and e-filing also allows the IRS to reject and provide immediate feedback to organizations about incomplete returns and returns with obvious inaccuracies.

- 6. Federal e-filing efforts should be coordinated with state filing requirements. By coordinating e-filing efforts with state charity officials, the IRS could expand its enforcement capacity, encourage more uniform and timely reporting, and simplify the task of organizations that are required to file in multiple states.
- 7. The IRS should require that the Form 1023, the application for recognition as a tax-exempt organization under Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code, be filed electronically. The Form 1023 is an important document for potential donors and regulators to review in order to understand the intended purpose and structure of newly established public charities. If the Form 1023 were filed electronically, it could be made available to the public more easily and cost-effectively through publicly available databases.

# 1. INTERNAL REVENUE SERVICE INFORMATION RETURNS continued

# **Other Considerations**

The Panel discussed proposals to reduce the time period for extensions to file returns. which is currently set at three months for the first extension and an additional three months for a second extension. Charitable organizations may require additional time to obtain the necessary information from third parties to file a complete and accurate return. Generally, charitable organizations do not file their Form 990 or 990-PF returns until they have audited financial statements and they may encounter significant delays in having audits completed, particularly in areas of the country where there are a limited number of accountants with expertise

in nonprofit accounting rules. Given the financial challenges that so many charitable organizations face on a daily basis, some organizations find that it is more cost effective to have returns prepared during the accounting "off season." The Panel will be studying other proposals to increase the timeliness of filing Form 990 series returns to include further recommendations in its final report.

There is a need for revision and reform of the Form 990 series returns to ensure accurate, complete, timely, consistent and informative reporting. The Panel intends to offer recommendations for revising the form and substance of Form 990 series returns in its final report.

# 2. FINANCIAL AUDITS AND REVIEWS

## Issue

Concerns have been raised about the quality of financial information on charitable organizations available to boards of directors. regulators and the public. Having financial statements prepared and audited in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles and auditing standards improves the quality of financial information available. A number of states require charitable organizations that meet certain financial criteria and/or that solicit contributions from the public to prepare audited financial statements. Under the Office of Management and Budget Circular No. A-133, the federal government currently requires non-federal organizations that receive federal awards of \$500,000 or more per year to perform an audit of the federal funds received and expended and the programs for which the funds were received. There is currently no other federal requirement for financial audits of charitable organizations.

# **Recommendations for Legislative Action**

1. Charitable organizations that are required to file a Form 990 or 990-PF and that have \$2 million or more in total annual revenues should be required by law to have an audit conducted of their financial statements and operations. Charitable organizations that are required to file a Form 990 or 990-PF and that have at least \$500,000 and under \$2 million in total annual revenues should be required by law to have financial statements reviewed by an independent public accountant.

2. All charitable organizations that are required by law to have audited financial statements should also be required to attach their financial statements to the annual information return (Form 990 or 990-PF) filed with the Internal Revenue Service. The statements should be made available for public inspection in the same manner as the Form 990 or 990-PF.

### **Rationale**

Financial audits can be a substantial expense for many charitable organizations, depending on the size, scale and complexity of the organization's operations. Thresholds for various state requirements for audited financial statements by charitable organizations were reviewed, as were requirements of some accreditation agencies for audits or reviews of participating organizations based on specific financial criteria. 6 While national data was not available about specific audit costs, the Panel determined that the threshold of \$2 million or more in total annual

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> For example, the Evangelical Council for Financial Accountability requires all participating agencies to obtain an annual audit performed by an independent certified public accounting firm in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards (GAAS) with financial statements prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP). Organizations with less than \$500,000 in annual revenues may periodically obtain a compilation and review of financial statements in lieu of an audit.

# 2. FINANCIAL AUDITS AND REVIEWS continued

revenues would require most charitable organizations to spend less than 1 percent of their annual budget to obtain an audit.<sup>7</sup>

For smaller organizations with at least \$500,000 and under \$2 million in total annual revenues, a financial statement review by an independent accountant offers a less expensive option while still providing the board, regulators and the public with some assurance of the accuracy of the organization's financial records.

This recommendation is limited to 501(c)(3) organizations that are currently required to file an annual information return with the IRS, thereby excluding houses of worship and their affiliated organizations, governmental units and their affiliates, and other specific organizations.

Charitable organizations are currently required to make their annual information returns (the Form 990 series) available to the public for a period of three years at the organization's principal and regional or district offices during regular business hours; and by mail upon personal or written request, or by posting on the organization's own website or on the Internet. Requiring organizations to make their audited financial statements available on the same basis will provide the public with additional, reliable information by which to monitor such organizations.

The Panel recognizes that there may be some discrepancies between information in the audited financial statements and information provided on the Form 990 returns, particularly for organizations that have consolidated financial statements but must file independent information returns for each of the related entities covered in the consolidated statements. Provisions must be made for organizations to explain discrepancies and, where appropriate, to file both the consolidated statements for the parent organization and appendices detailing financial information for the related entity.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> The United Way of America is conducting a study of member audit costs that will be shared with the Panel. Preliminary data indicates that the average audit cost for agencies in United Way's Metro Area II (smaller urban areas) where annual revenues range from \$4 million to \$9 million were \$15,795 or 0.26 percent of the annual revenue. For agencies in Metro Area III, where annual revenues range from \$2 to \$3.8 million, the average audit cost was \$10,440 or 0.37 percent of the annual revenues. The smallest agencies, Metro Area VII, whose annual revenues are below \$500,000, the average audit cost was \$3,475 or 0.93 percent of the annual revenues.

### **Other Considerations**

The Panel noted that in some cases, changing audit firms on a regular basis (every five years or more) can be beneficial and recommends that large organizations, as a best practice, consider rotation of audit firms or partners as appropriate. However, the availability of auditors with the appropriate expertise can be guite limited based on where the organization is located and the size and complexity of its operations. The cost of audits and the willingness of some auditors to perform all or part of the audit on a pro bono basis can also determine the practicality of rotating audit firms or partners. Therefore, the Panel does not believe it would be appropriate for the federal government to require the rotation of auditors for charitable organizations.

The Panel discussed concerns raised by a number of scholars and accounting practitioners that some standards established by the Financial Accounting Standards Board

(FASB) may be inappropriate for charitable organizations.8 The Panel also examined the need for greater definition and understanding of the standards and requirements for auditors regarding reportable events discovered in the course of a financial audit or review. The Panel intends to examine these issues more closely in the months ahead in order to make more informed recommendations in its final report to the Senate Finance Committee.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> For example, Robert N. Anthony, professor emeritus at Harvard University, has been sharply critical of the SFAS No. 116 and No. 117 issued by FASB in the mid-1990s and stated that "SFAS No. 117 challenges the accountant to find a sensible way of preparing an operating statement for nonprofit organizations that have contributed endowment, plant, or museum objects. The statement mixes operating transactions with nonoperating transactions and leads to what many believe to be a useless bottom line."

# 3. ANNUAL NOTIFICATION REQUIREMENT FOR ORGANIZATIONS NOT FILING INFORMATION RETURNS

### Issue

The Internal Revenue Service publishes a list of organizations eligible to receive taxdeductible contributions to assist taxpayers in making charitable giving decisions. However, this list (Publication 78) includes outdated contact information for many organizations and may include many organizations that have ceased operations or become inactive without notifying the IRS. The IRS currently has no mechanism for updating information for organizations that do not file an annual Form 990 series return because their annual receipts fall below the specified amount (generally, under \$25,000) or because they meet other criteria for houses of worship and their affiliated organizations, governmental units and their affiliates, and other specific organizations. Consequently, taxpayers cannot rely on the IRS list for accurate information.

# Recommendations

- 1. Legislation should be enacted requiring all organizations recognized under section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code that are currently excused from filing an annual information return because their annual gross receipts fall below the specified amount (currently below \$25,000) to file an annual notice with the IRS containing the following items:
  - The organization's name and any name under which such organization operates or does business:

- The organization's mailing address, telephone number, and Internet website address (if applicable);
- The organization's taxpayer identification number;
- The name and address of a principal officer of the organization;
- A statement of the organization's mission;
- The organization's total revenues and expenditures for the year; and
- An indication of whether the organization has terminated operations.

This notification form should be incorporated in the Form 990 series and should be required to be made available to the public on the same basis as other Form 990 series returns. Further, the IRS should be directed to make this notice available for electronic filing and should require e-filing of this notice as soon as possible.

- 2. Charitable organizations should be required to notify the IRS if and when they cease operations and to file a final Form 990 series return within a specified period after termination.
- 3. The IRS should be required to suspend the tax-exempt status of organizations that fail to file the required notification form for three consecutive years. Because of the lack of current contact information for many of these organizations in the IRS databases, the Panel recommends that an appropriate phase-in period be provided before automatic suspension is enforced.

# **Rationale**

This notification requirement would assist the IRS in providing for public use more accurate information on the charitable organizations that are exempt from federal income taxes and are eligible to receive taxdeductible contributions. It would also help to ensure that all organizations granted charitable tax-exempt status by the IRS can be notified of more detailed filing requirements should their annual gross receipts rise above the minimum filing thresholds.

Currently, organizations that are terminating operations are asked to send a letter to the Exempt Organization Customer Account Services at the IRS and, if they file an annual return (Form 990, 990-EZ or 990-PF), to check a "Final Return" box on the first page of the return. A formal requirement to provide notification of termination to the IRS would provide greater clarification regarding organizations involved in dissolution or termination procedures. This, coupled with the new annual notification requirement, should enable the IRS and the public to have more timely, accurate information on charities that are eligible to receive tax-deductible contributions.

The Panel believes that automatic suspension of tax-exempt status is a cost-effective remedy for both the IRS and organizations that are not in compliance. The IRS should be required to give prompt notice of the suspension. The organization's income would not be exempt from taxation and the organization would not be eligible to receive taxdeductible contributions if its status was

suspended, but the status can be reinstated with relatively little impact and cost to the IRS when the error or offense is corrected.9

# **Other Considerations**

The Panel discussed whether this notification form should include additional information, such as the names of the organization's board of directors, the source of the organization's funds, and disclosure of whether the organization currently engages in a limited number of governance and accountability best practices (based on questions included on the new Form 1023 Application for Recognition of Exemption) through a checklist-style series of yes/no questions. After careful consideration, the Panel determined that such additional information would unduly complicate and increase the cost of establishing and enforcing the new notification requirement and therefore did not include this in its recommendation.

<sup>9</sup> In its January 26, 2005, report, "Options to Improve Tax Compliance and Reform Tax Expenditures" (JCS-02-05), the Joint Committee on Taxation of the U.S. Congress calls for a similar annual notification requirement and suggests that an organization's tax-exempt status should be automatically revoked if the organization fails to provide the required annual notice for three consecutive years. The Panel believes that automatic revocation introduces unnecessary cost burdens for the IRS and the organization and suggests that the same results can be achieved more costeffectively through automatic suspension of taxexempt status.

# Recommendations to Enhance Governance of Charitable Organizations

# 4. CONFLICT OF INTEREST POLICY DISCLOSURE

# Issue

There are instances in which board members and staff of charitable organizations have personal, business or other interests in transactions that the charitable organization undertakes. A conflict of interest arises in such situations when the board member or staff person's duty of loyalty to the charitable organization comes into conflict with the competing interest they may have in the proposed transaction. Some such transactions are illegal, some are unethical, and some may be undertaken in the best interest of the charitable organization as long as certain clear procedures are followed. A fundamental step in preventing abuse in and protecting the reputation of charitable organizations is the identification and appropriate management of apparent and actual conflicts of interest. Many charitable organizations neither understand what a conflict of interest entails, nor have policies to help guide board members, staff and volunteers in dealing with the apparent or actual conflicts that will inevitably arise.

A conflict of interest policy can help to ensure that a charitable organization, and its officers and directors, comply with federal and state legal obligations. Violations of section 4941 of the Internal Revenue Code (self-dealing transactions for private foundations) and section 4958 (excess benefit transactions for public charities) are triggered by transactions involving individuals who may

have a conflict of interest with respect to the organization, as defined by the Code. All states mandate that directors and officers owe a duty of loyalty to the organization. and improperly benefiting from a transaction involving a conflict of interest more than likely involves a violation of the duty of lovalty. Some state statutes specifically penalize participation in transactions involving conflicts of interests unless the organization follows certain prescribed procedures.

# **Recommendations for Charitable Organization Action**

- 1. Every charitable organization, as a matter of best practice, should adopt and enforce a conflict of interest policy consistent with the laws of the state in which it is located and tailored to its specific organizational needs and characteristics. This policy should define conflict of interest. identify the classes of individuals within the organization covered by the policy, specify procedures to be followed in managing conflicts of interest and facilitate disclosure of information that may lead to conflicts of interest. Special attention should be paid to any transactions between board members and the organization.
- 2. There should be a vigorous sector-wide effort to encourage all charitable organizations, regardless of size, to adopt and enforce conflict of interest policies.

# 4. CONFLICT OF INTEREST POLICY DISCLOSURE continued

# **Recommendation for Internal Revenue Service Action**

The Form 990 series (Form 990, Form 990-EZ, Form 990-PF) should be revised by the IRS to require all charitable organizations to disclose whether they have a conflict of interest policy. Beyond this new disclosure requirement, however, no new legal requirements are warranted. Because of the variability both in state laws and among charitable organizations, adoption and enforcement of conflict of interest policies should be a matter of recommended practice for the sector. The Panel expects to develop model conflict of interest policy provisions to assist charitable organizations in crafting policies tailored to their specific organizational needs

### Rationale

Establishing and enforcing a conflict of interest policy is an important part of safeguarding charitable organizations against engaging in unethical or illegal practices. A requirement to report annually whether or not an organization has adopted such a policy will remind organizations that have not yet done so that this is an important step to take and will likely result in more organizations adopting and enforcing such policies. The Panel notes with approval that the IRS has already added a question to the new Form 1023 asking organizations whether they have adopted a conflict of interest policy.

The Panel also notes that if an organization has a conflict of interest policy requiring signatures by board members and staff, and signed forms are missing, an outside auditor is required to report that fact in connection with its audit. This constitutes yet another means to ensure compliance with conflict of interest policies.

# **5. AUDIT COMMITTEES**

# Issue

One of the primary duties of the board of directors of a charitable organization is to ensure that all financial matters of the organization are conducted legally, ethically and in accordance with proper accounting rules. Depending on the size and scale of the organization, the board of directors may choose or be required by law1 to have the organization's financial statements audited or reviewed by an independent auditor. In overseeing the audit process, the full board of directors must have sufficient objectivity in assessing the financial controls, policies, procedures, and condition of the organization, and adequate oversight of the external auditor

At issue is whether boards of directors should be required by law to establish a separate audit committee to review management's performance and the performance of external auditors hired to conduct audits. reviews and compilations.

### Recommendation

Audit committees should not be defined or required by federal law. Oversight of the audit function is a critical responsibility of the board of directors, but boards of directors must have the independence to assess the most cost-effective methods for ensuring that the organization's financial resources are managed responsibly and effectively. Organizations with small boards of directors and limited organizational structures may not choose to delegate the audit oversight

responsibility to a separate committee. This decision should be determined by the board of the organization and not be mandated by law. Further, audit committees may be inappropriate for charitable organizations that are organized as trusts rather than as corporations.

# **Recommendations for Charitable Organization Action**

- 1. Charitable organizations should include individuals with some financial literacy on their board of directors in accordance with the laws of their state or as a matter of good practice. Every charitable organization that has its financial statements independently audited, whether legally required or not, should consider establishing a separate audit committee of the board. If the board does not have sufficient financial literacy, it may form an audit committee comprised of non-voting, non-staff advisors rather than board members if state law permits.
- 2. There should be a sector-wide effort to educate charitable organizations about the importance of the auditing function. Since so many organizational leaders, both professional and volunteer, come to the charitable sector motivated by the mission of the organization, they may not always

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> See Issue #2, Financial Audits and Reviews, p. 23-25 of this report.

# 5. AUDIT COMMITTEES continued

have the requisite knowledge regarding governance and finance. However, they may be very responsive to improving practices once they are made aware of the process.

# **Other Considerations**

Audit committees can help the board have greater assurance that audited financial statements are accurate and comprehensive by reducing possible conflicts of interest between outside auditors and the paid staff of the organization. It is important that the board or its audit committee, if it chooses or is required by state law to establish such a committee, include individuals with financial expertise. The board or its audit committee should not include paid staff of the organization in the audit review process.

The Panel discussed the board's responsibilities for overseeing the audit process and duties it should either perform itself or delegate to an audit committee. These include:

- Retaining and terminating the engagement of the independent auditor.
- Reviewing the terms of the auditor's engagement at least every five years.
- Overseeing the performance of the independent audit:

- Conferring with the auditor to ensure that the affairs of the organization are in order;
- Recommending approval of the annual audit report to the full board;
- Overseeing policies and procedures for encouraging whistleblowers to report questionable accounting or auditing matters of the organization;
- Approving any non-audit services performed by the auditing firm.
- Reviewing adoption and implementation of internal financial controls through the audit process; and
- Monitoring the organization's response to potentially illegal or unethical practices within the organization, including but not limited to fraudulent accounting.

Education and technical assistance should be available to boards of directors to assist them in overseeing the audit process and deciding whether to establish audit committees. assess what the duties of the audit committee should be and hold external auditors accountable for conducting thorough audits. The Panel expects to make further recommendations on mechanisms for providing and funding such assistance and educational efforts in its final report.

# 6. REPORTING OF SUSPECTED MISCONDUCT OR MALFEASANCE

# Issue

Employees and others affiliated with charitable organizations may be reluctant to come forward with information about suspected wrong-doing or questionable practices for fear of retaliation by their employers. Some state laws provide protections for employees who report misconduct under specific conditions. The Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 prohibits employment-related retaliation (including by nonprofits) against whistleblowers who provide information on certain financial crimes delineated under federal law. Many within the charitable sector may not be aware that the whistleblower provision of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act applies to nonprofits as well

# Recommendation

Existing legal provisions protect individuals working in charitable organizations from retaliation for engaging in whistleblowing activities, and violation of these provisions will subject organizations and responsible individuals to civil and criminal sanctions. Because of the great diversity of organizational structure, governance, and capacity within the charitable sector, as well as the variability in state laws, whistleblower policies and procedures will be more effective if they are tailored to the needs of individual organizations. Therefore, no additional legislative action is required.

# **Recommendations for Charitable Organization Action**

- 1. All charitable organizations should establish policies and procedures that encourage individuals to come forward with credible information on illegal practices or violations of adopted policies of the organization. These policies and procedures should specify the individual or individuals within the organization (both board and staff) or outside parties to whom such information can be reported. and should include at least one way to report such information that will protect the anonymity of the individual providing the information. The policy also should specify that the organization will protect the individual who makes such a report from retaliation.
- 2. To facilitate the establishment of these policies and procedures, a sector-wide education initiative should be undertaken to inform charitable organizations about establishing such policies and procedures. This initiative should develop model policies as well as notification and reporting procedures for use by charitable organizations. The Panel will review policies that have been implemented successfully by charitable organizations to provide recommendations in its final report.

# Recommendations to Strengthen Government Oversight of Charitable Organizations

#### 7. DONOR-ADVISED FUNDS

#### Issue

Over the past century, donor-advised funds have evolved as an important means of stimulating charitable contributions from a broad range of donors. Community foundations pioneered the development of donor-advised funds and such vehicles remain a vital means for donors to make philanthropic contributions today and to build endowments for long-term community needs. More recently, other types of charitable organizations including educational institutions, cultural organizations, federations and a new class of national charities that receive and distribute donor-advised funds—have begun to make more extensive use of donor-advised funds.

There currently is no statutory definition of a donor-advised fund. However, a donoradvised fund is generally understood to be a fund maintained by a public charity, 1 typically as a separately identified fund or account, though in some cases as a separate trust. The donor-advised fund is owned, controlled, and administered by the public charity, subject to an agreement under which the donor (or an advisor designated by the donor) has the right to make recommendations with respect to distributions and/or investments. As with its other assets, the administering public charity has a fiduciary obligation to ensure that donor-advised assets are used exclusively for charitable purposes.

For many donors, donor-advised funds are an attractive alternative to creating a private foundation. Because they are donations to a public charity, contributions to a donoradvised fund may qualify for more favorable

charitable deduction treatment than contributions to a private foundation. Because they are assets of a public charity, donor-advised funds are not subject to the self-dealing, payout, and taxable expenditure rules applicable to private foundations. Finally, because the public charity owns and administers the fund, the donor is freed of the administrative burden of creating and maintaining a private foundation and also benefits from the philanthropic and substantive expertise of the public charity.

Most charities with donor-advised funds exercise the highest levels of fiduciary responsibility to ensure that donor-advised assets are used exclusively and appropriately to advance charitable purposes. However, donor-advised funds can be subject to a range of potential abuses if the administering public charity fails to exercise its fiduciary responsibility. Specific concerns include the following:

 Current reporting obligations for charities owning donor-advised funds are inadequate to allow the IRS, the media and the general public to determine the extent of assets held in donor-advised funds and how those assets are employed in furtherance of the charity's exempt purposes.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Although there is no known prohibition on private foundations administering donor-advised funds, virtually all donor-advised funds are and historically have been administered by public charities. Therefore, this description does not address the donor-advised funds, if any, that may be administered by private foundations.

#### 7. DONOR-ADVISED FUNDS continued

- Assets contributed to donor-advised funds, for which the donors receive a current income tax deduction, potentially may not be used for charitable purposes within a reasonable amount of time if the assets are "parked" in the donor-advised fund. There are also concerns that some charities may permit assets contributed by a private foundation, which counts such distribution toward satisfaction of the foundation's minimum payout requirement, to be distributed back to the private foundation ("round-tripping").
- Some donors try to manipulate donoradvised fund grants to obtain substantial private benefits, such as payment of tuition or the purchase of tickets to charity events.
- Some public charities may approve the use of donor-advised assets to reimburse donors/advisors for travel costs and other expenses purportedly related to the investigation of potential grantees.

## Recommendations for Internal Revenue Service Action

Public charities, in addition to identifying themselves as owners of donor-advised funds on the Form 990,<sup>2</sup> should be required to disclose on their Form 990 aggregate financial information about donor-advised funds they hold. While there could be benefit to charities and the public from the disclosure of greater information about donor-advised funds, such as the names of advisors to the funds, such disclosure would compromise donor anonymity (where anonymity is

desired) and deter some donors from giving. The Panel will make recommendations on the specific types of information that should be reported by public charities in its final report.

#### **Recommendations for Legislative Action**

1. The term "donor-advised fund" should be statutorily defined to provide a basis for targeted rules addressing potential abuses of donor-advised funds, without discouraging use of such funds by donors. The definition should make clear that a donoradvised fund is a separately identified fund or account consisting of assets owned by a public charity with respect to which there is an understanding between the donor and the charity that the charity will consider non-binding advice from the donor (or an advisor) regarding investments or distributions of the amount held in the fund. The definition explicitly should exclude specific arrangements in which advisory rights are substantially more limited than in the typical donoradvised fund, such as funds for which a majority of the advisors are appointed by a public charity or by a governmental entity and funds designated at the time of the gift to support a specific charitable purpose when specified conditions regarding the selection of fund advisors and/or grantees are met. The Panel is considering several definitions of "donor-advised fund" put forth

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> See IRS Form 990, Schedule A, Part III, Ouestion 4a (2004).

- by various experts and intends to make specific recommendations in its final report regarding the contours of a definition, including the types of funds that should be excluded from the definition and the appropriate section of the Internal Revenue Code for such a definition to appear.
- 2. Public charities should be prohibited from making grants to private non-operating foundations from assets held in donoradvised funds. While there may be some situations in which grants from assets held in donor-advised funds to private nonoperating foundations are desirable, attempts to draft or enforce a more targeted rule allowing these few instances while prohibiting other such distributions would be extremely difficult, if not impossible.
- 3. Public charities holding donor-advised funds should be subject to minimum activity rules to ensure that funds are not permitted to remain in inactive donor-advised fund accounts indefinitely. These minimum activity rules should require charitable organizations (a) to contact the donors/advisors of funds that have been inactive for a period of years to request advice and (b) to make distributions or revoke advisory privileges if there has been no activity in an individual donor-advised fund account for a specified time period. This recommendation addresses concerns about "parking" of assets over extended periods while preserving the ability of donors to use donoradvised funds legitimately to accrue assets for a specific intended charitable purpose,

- such as creating a field-of-interest fund, scholarship fund or an endowed faculty chair at a university. The Panel intends to make further recommendations for these minimum activity rules with specific time periods in its final report.
- 4. Public charities should be prohibited from knowingly using assets held in a donoradvised fund to:
  - (a) Reimburse donors/advisors or related parties for expenses incurred by them in an advisory capacity for the selection of grantees;
  - (b) Compensate the donor/advisor or related parties for services rendered, if all or substantially all of such compensation is paid from the relevant donor-advised fund; and
  - (c) Make grants to the donor/advisor or related parties.
  - This narrowly targeted prohibition on certain uses of donor-advised fund assets is an easily administrable standard that would prevent identified abuses.<sup>3</sup>
- 5. Public charities that own and administer donor-advised funds should be required to include on forms used to recommend potential grantees a donor certification that the grant will not provide any substantial benefit to, or relieve any obliga-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> See Senate Finance Committee staff discussion draft, 108th Cong. (2004) (second and tenth recommendation relating to donor-advised funds).

#### 7. DONOR-ADVISED FUNDS continued

- tion of, the donor, the advisor or any related party.
- 6. Public charities that own and administer a donor-advised fund should not be permitted knowingly to make grants from that fund to satisfy a legally binding charitable pledge of the donor/advisor. Assets of donor-advised funds belong to the charity that owns and administers the funds and allowing donors to make binding pledges on those assets would violate the prohibition on use of charitable assets for private benefit. The proposal in the Senate Finance Committee staff discussion draft to permit donor-advised funds to satisfy a donor's legally binding pledge would ease administration of donor-advised funds; however, the Panel believes that it is important to adhere strictly to the principle that assets in donor-advised funds may not be used in ways that confer substantial benefits on donor/advisors.

#### **Other Considerations**

The Panel is studying proposals requiring that donor-advised fund grantees acknowledge to the grantor public charity that the

donor-advised grant will not result in any substantial benefit to the recommending donor/advisor.<sup>4</sup> Such proposals must balance the benefit of the grantee's verification that no benefit has been provided to the donor/advisor with the anticipated administrative burdens of carrying out a grantee acknowledgement requirement and the need to respect the value of maintaining donor anonymity.

The Panel discussed how minimum payout requirements could be implemented for donor-advised funds and determined that subjecting assets held in donor-advised funds to the complex rules that govern distributions by private foundations would require public charities holding those assets to incur significant administrative costs without producing a corresponding public benefit, since most donor-advised fund programs pay out substantially more than 5 percent. The Panel therefore opposes establishing a minimum payout requirement for donor-advised funds.

<sup>4</sup> See, e.g., id. at 2 (third recommendation relating to donor-advised funds).

#### 8. RULES FOR VALUATION OF PROPERTY CONTRIBUTIONS

#### Issue

In its discussion draft, Senate Finance Committee staff recommended that contributions to donor-advised funds of assets other than cash or publicly traded securities be required to be sold within one year of the contribution (or that donor-advised funds be allowed to receive only contributions of cash or publicly traded securities).

The Senate Finance Committee staff discussion draft also proposed that a mandatory "baseball arbitration" (where the arbitrator must choose one side's valuation) procedure be instituted to assist in resolving federal tax valuation disputes regarding the value of property contributed to a charity (other than cash or publicly traded securities).

#### Recommendation

The appropriate valuation and disposition of non-cash contributions should be addressed in the context of all public charities, rather than developed for specific types of assets or funds that are held by charities. The Panel has instituted procedures to study these complex issues over the coming months in order to provide specific recommendations in its final report to the Senate Finance Committee

Note: The Panel has deep reservations concerning the Joint Committee on Taxation recommendation in its January 27, 2005, report on "Options to Improve Tax Compliance and Reform Tax Expenditures" to limit deductions for contributions of property (other than publicly traded securities) to the donor's basis in the property or, if less, the fair market value of the property. The effect of this proposal could be to eliminate a significant source of contributions for charities.

#### Rationale

Federal law should provide adequate safeguards against abuse by charities or taxpayers in all areas, including valuation and disposition of non-cash contributions. At the same time, it is important to ensure that any changes to federal law do not unnecessarily discourage individuals or corporations from making valuable non-cash contributions to charity or force charities to dispose of donated property in a manner that would diminish its financial value to the charity. The Joint Committee on Taxation's argument that gifts of property other than publicly traded securities require significant diversion of resources from the mission of a charitable organization does not comport with sector experience and does not take into account the capacity of many charities like community foundations and institutions with major endowments to make effective use of gifts of real estate, closely held stock, limited partnership interests, and other securities in meeting their long-term financial goals to further their charitable missions, nor the importance to museums and other cultural organizations of donations of art and artifacts. The Joint Committee on Taxation raises a number of other possible approaches to valuation concerns related to donated property ranging from strengthening present-law appraiser and appraisal rules to eliminating, in whole or in part, the charitable contribution deduction for property. This is an area that deserves significant study and deliberation for the Panel to reach a meaningful recommendation for the Senate Finance Committee's consideration.

#### 9. PENALTY TAXES ON SELF-DEALING AND OTHER VIOLATIONS

#### Issue

Foundation managers and disqualified persons are currently subject to first-tier excise taxes when they engage in self-dealing transactions.<sup>5</sup> These excise taxes may be too low to deter the prohibited actions effectively. Although the Internal Revenue Code gives the Secretary the authority to abate first-tier excise taxes levied against foundation managers whose participation in other types of transactions was due to reasonable cause and not willful neglect, 6 this authority does not currently extend to abatement of first-tier excise taxes imposed on disqualified persons or foundation managers involved in selfdealing transactions. The lack of protections for disqualified persons and managers inadvertently participating in self-dealing transactions where the foundation was not harmed and the individuals involved received no "excess benefit" (and thus would not have been subject to an excise tax at all if the organization involved had been a public charity) can lead to harsh and unjust results.

The Internal Revenue Service can also impose excise taxes on foundation managers who knowingly participate in jeopardizing investments and taxable expenditures and on managers of public charities who knowingly participate in excess benefit transactions,<sup>7</sup> but these taxes rarely have been imposed. Treasury regulations currently stipulate a number of conditions for establishing whether a foundation or organization manager acted knowingly when he or she participated in an excess benefit transaction or other prohibited activity. This has created an extremely high burden of proof on the Secretary before taxes can be imposed.

#### **Recommendations for Legislative Action**

1. First-tier excise taxes imposed on foundation managers and disqualified persons who knowingly participate in self-dealing transactions should be increased. The Panel is currently studying various proposals regarding the taxes that should be imposed and expects to make a definitive recommendation in its final report.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Section 4941 of the Internal Revenue Code. Penalties may be imposed on a manager if such manager participated in the self-dealing transaction knowing that it was such a transaction, unless such participation was not willful and was due to reasonable cause. Penalties may be imposed on a disqualified person who participates in a self-dealing transaction regardless of whether he or she knows that it is such a transaction. First-tier excise taxes are currently equal to 2.5 percent and 5 percent of the amount of the transaction for managers and disqualified persons, respectively.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Section 4962 of the Internal Revenue Code.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Section 4941 of the Internal Revenue Code concerns self-dealing transactions: section 4944 concerns jeopardizing investments, and section 4945 concerns taxable expenditures. Section 4958 of the Code prohibits public charities from engaging in excess benefit transactions. An organization manager is statutorily defined for each of the provisions and is generally someone who is, or who has powers or responsibilities similar to, an officer, director or trustee of the organization or, in the case of a private foundation, any employee who has responsibility or authority over the decision in question.

- 2. The Secretary's authority to abate first-tier taxes on managers participating in selfdealing transactions should be extended to include abatement of taxes imposed on foundation managers and disqualified persons who have participated in a self-dealing transaction. Standards for abatement should be clarified, and the language of the abatement provision in Internal Revenue Code section 4962 should be revised to more closely coordinate with the language of the penalty provisions in sections 4941 through 4945 and 4958. The Panel expects to make specific recommendations on this matter in its final report.
- 3. The standard for imposition of first-tier excise taxes on organization managers should be modified to provide a realistic possibility that such penalty taxes will be imposed on managers who fail to meet their fiduciary duties in approving or failing to oppose a prohibited transaction. This standard must be tailored so as not to unnecessarily deter qualified individuals from serving as managers of charitable organizations for fear that penalty taxes would be imposed unfairly. The Panel is studying proposals to modify the standard and expects to make a recommendation in its final rebort.

#### **Rationale**

First-tier excise taxes and penalties imposed on managers and other individuals who improperly benefit from self-dealing or excess benefit transactions and other wrongdoing must be sufficient to create an effective deterrent. At the same time, provision must be made to abate penalty taxes for inadvertent violations where the individual did not receive an "excess benefit" and the foundation was not harmed. For example. a well-meaning board member may allow a foundation to rent space in a building he or she owns for less-than-market-value rent, not realizing that this would violate selfdealing rules. Extending abatement authority would also promote greater symmetry in the penalties imposed on disqualified persons and managers of private foundations (under section 4941) and of public charities (under section 4958), as penalties on charity managers and disqualified persons currently may be abated under section 4962.

Standards for imposition of penalties must provide sufficient latitude for the Secretary to impose penalties on managers who have participated in prohibited transactions, while preserving protections essential to the ability of organizations to recruit qualified individuals to serve on boards. Proposals to alter the current standard require careful study and analysis before the Panel is able to make specific recommendations to the Senate Finance Committee.

#### 10. TYPE III SUPPORTING ORGANIZATIONS

#### Issue

A Type III supporting organization is a public charity that is organized and operated exclusively for the benefit of one or more other public charities. Supporting organizations allow a public charity to use separate entities to insulate assets from liability or to separate certain functions (such as investing or fundraising), without becoming subject to the more stringent rules covering private foundations relating to insider transactions. required distributions, business holdings, investments, and expenditures. Like other types of supporting organizations, there must be a close and continuous relationship between the Type III supporting organization and the supported organization, but the supported organization does not have legal control over the Type III supporting organization. Substantial contributors to a Type III supporting organization and their family members are prohibited from controlling the supporting organization.

Type III supporting organization rules allow for independent ownership and management of assets exclusively dedicated to the benefit of the supported charities, thus permitting the supported charities, donors, and government entities to address specific needs and circumstances such as those described in the examples provided later in this discussion.

The flexibility currently allowed in the use of Type III supporting organizations

makes them uniquely suited to meet the needs of public charities, governmental entities, and donors in a variety of circumstances, but has also made these organizations targets for abuse. Some donors inappropriately maintain de facto control over assets contributed to Type III supporting organizations, using the Type III organization as the functional equivalent of a private foundation without effective oversight by the public charity that is the nominal "supported organization."

#### Recommendation

Targeted anti-abuse rules, accompanied by appropriate penalties, should be enacted to eliminate the inappropriate use of Type III supporting organizations while maintaining the availability of such organizations for legitimate charitable purposes. Because of the important role Type III supporting organizations may play in a wide range of legitimate charitable situations, at this time the Panel does not support proposals to eliminate Type III supporting organizations entirely. The Panel will include specific recommendations regarding anti-abuse rules in its final report.

#### **Rationale**

Careful study is required to develop measures that will prevent and punish abuses, while continuing to allow the proper use of Type III supporting organizations to further the charitable purposes of the supported

charity. The Panel has identified the following examples where Type III supporting organizations are uniquely suited to address charitable purposes:

- Type III supporting organizations that support public colleges and universities are able to hold and manage technology assets independently so that they are not subject to control and potential appropriation by state governments for other, unrelated state programs.
- Donors wishing to ensure that gifted assets remain dedicated to a particular charitable program or purpose and are not used for other activities the supported charity may pursue or, in the case of unique collectibles, to ensure gifted assets will be kept and exhibited in the community, not sold to support other activities of the charity, can achieve that goal by contributing the assets to an independently managed Type III supporting organization.
- Domestic "friends" organizations of foreign public charities that are used to raise funds in the United States to support the foreign charity are often organized as independently managed Type III supporting organizations so that they cannot be deemed mere conduits for the foreign organizations.
- Type III supporting organizations are often used where multiple charities with differing short- and long-term goals are

- to be supported because Type III organizations' independent management can effectively balance the charities' competing goals.
- Type III supporting organizations also have proved useful to governmental entities in advancing their public purposes. For example, in a nonprofit hospital conversion in which the parties agreed to place the sale proceeds in a supporting organization to a community foundation, the state attorney general insisted on use of a Type III supporting organization so that the new entity would have a strong separate identity from the community foundation. In other cases, state or federal law may prohibit government-controlled entities from engaging in activities that an independent support organization could do for the benefit of the governmental entity.
- Many hospitals, educational institutions and other public charities are structured as networks of service providers as opposed to single entities. Often the 501(c)(3) parent organization that directs and provides administrative services to subsidiary operating entities can qualify as a public charity only as a Type III supporting organization because it controls the supported organizations rather than being controlled by or under common control with them.

#### 11. TAX SHELTERS

#### Issue

Some charitable organizations, as well as other tax neutral persons and entities, have been involved as accommodation parties in abusive tax avoidance transactions (i.e., tax shelters). The Senate Finance Committee staff discussion draft has proposed that charitable organizations that the Internal Revenue Service determines have accommodated "listed tax shelter transactions or reported transactions (with a significant purpose of tax avoidance)" without receiving an "affirmation that the transaction is not a listed or reported transaction" under existing federal tax law would have their section 170 status revoked for a year and be subject to a 100 percent tax on all accommodation fees or other direct benefits received. "Listed transactions" are those which the IRS has determined to be tax avoidance transactions and identified as such by notice or other published guidance.8 "Reportable transactions" include "listed transactions" as well as other types of transactions that must be disclosed to the IRS even though there has been no determination that such other transactions are abusive 9

#### Recommendation

Appropriate anti-abuse provisions must be developed and should be sufficient to deter charitable organizations from participating in a listed transaction. The IRS recently has released final regulations under Circular 230, which sets forth best practices for tax advisors as well as standards for covered opinions and other written advice. The Panel is studying the Circular 230 regulations, relevant code provisions and regulations, as amended by the American Jobs Creation Act of 2004, as well as proposals from the Senate Finance Committee staff discussion draft and the Joint Committee on Taxation, to make a specific recommendation regarding such provisions in its final report.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> See Treas. Reg. Section 1.6011-4(c).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> See Treas, Reg. Section 1.6011-4(b). It is assumed that the term "reported transactions" in the Senate Finance Committee staff discussion draft refers to "reportable transactions."

#### **Rationale**

The Panel is deeply troubled by the participation of some charitable organizations in abusive tax avoidance transactions but notes that such activity is a complex problem whose reach extends beyond charitable organizations. Even as remedies are considered for participation in abusive tax avoidance transactions, the charitable sector must do more to educate managers and directors about tax shelter transactions in order to prevent charities from becoming unwitting participants in abusive schemes.

The Panel believes that appropriate penalties must be imposed on managers and organizations that knowingly participate in abusive transactions but believes that revocation of the organization's section 170 status. as proposed in the Senate Finance Committee staff discussion draft, may be the incorrect penalty depending on the size and scale of the offense. This penalty would

deprive an organization that depends on public contributions of a major portion of its funding for a year, an amount that could far exceed financial penalties imposed on other types of accommodation parties. In addition this penalty may have little effect on an organization that does not rely on public contributions.

The Panel notes that the Joint Committee on Taxation has proposed a penalty tax of 100 percent of an organization's income attributable to participation in the prohibited transaction, along with penalties to be imposed on organizations for failure to disclose required information on a prohibited transaction and penalties on organization managers who approve such a transaction, knowing or having reason to know that the transaction is a prohibited tax shelter transaction. The Panel is currently studying this proposal along with other relevant code provisions and regulations before making a more specific recommendation.

#### 12. STATE ENFORCEMENT OF FEDERAL LAWS

#### Issue

The Senate Finance Committee staff discussion draft includes a proposal to give states the authority to pursue, with the approval of the Internal Revenue Service, federal tax violations by exempt organizations. However, states can incorporate federal law into state law. For example, since 1978, 48 states and the District of Columbia have had laws imposing the restrictions on private foundations in Chapter 42 of the Internal Revenue Code as a matter of state law. While state authorities generally have the ability under state law to pursue actions against charitable organizations and their managers, they do not have the ability to enforce federal tax law

#### **Recommendation for Legislative Action**

States should be encouraged to incorporate federal tax standards for charitable organizations, such as section 4958 (prohibiting excess benefit transactions), into state law.

#### **Rationale**

If states incorporate federal tax standards into state law, enforcement of federal standards will likely increase, opportunity for collaboration between federal and state enforcement efforts will increase, and charitable organizations will face more uniform federal and state standards. The Panel believes this approach is preferable to granting the states authority to enforce federal tax laws with the approval of the IRS, as was recommended by the staff discussion draft of the Senate Finance Committee, because incorporating federal tax standards into state law grants greater flexibility to the states while at the same time not burdening the already stretched IRS with another task. The Panel will consider which specific federal tax standards would be most appropriate for adoption at the state level for possible inclusion in its final report.

#### 13. FUNDING FOR FEDERAL AND STATE ENFORCEMENT

#### Issue

Funding for oversight of tax-exempt organizations has become increasingly inadequate as the size and complexity of the exempt sector has grown. Over the past 20 years, funding for Internal Revenue Service oversight of exempt organizations has remained essentially constant while the sector has nearly doubled in size and become even more complex. Funding of oversight at the state level varies substantially among states, but all lack sufficient resources to provide adequate oversight of the rapidly growing charitable sector. Congress initially recommended that revenues from an excise tax imposed since 1969 on the net investment income of private non-operating foundations should be used to fund the exempt organizations function within the IRS. Those funds have never been designated for that function. The beneficial impact of legislative and regulatory changes recommended by the Panel as well as the efficacy of current law will be diminished if additional resources are not provided for education, oversight and enforcement.

#### **Recommendations for Legislative Action**

- 1. Congress should increase the resources allocated to the IRS for oversight and enforcement of charitable organizations and also for overall tax enforcement.
- 2. The Panel would be strongly supportive of efforts by Congress to earmark funds derived from penalties, fees and excise taxes imposed on charitable organizations for improved oversight and education activities of the Exempt Organization Division of the IRS.

#### **Rationale**

The shortage of resources for oversight and enforcement extends beyond the charitable sector to many areas of tax enforcement. While the Panel feels it is critical to increase the resources allocated to exempt organization oversight, any such increase should not be at the expense of other vital areas of tax enforcement.

Revenues collected annually from the excise tax on private foundations now greatly exceed the current budget of the IRS Exempt Organizations Division. The Panel recognizes the fiscal challenges facing Congress today, but believes that, without adequate resources for oversight and enforcement, those who willfully violate the law will be able to continue to do so with impunity.

#### 14. INFORMATION SHARING BETWEEN FEDERAL AND STATE OFFICIALS

#### Issue

While current law allows the Internal Revenue Service to share relevant information with state revenue officers, it does not permit such information sharing with state attorneys general and other state officials charged with overseeing charitable organizations. The inability to share information about ongoing investigations increases the cost of oversight and enforcement and impedes the efforts of state officials to weed out wrongdoing efficiently and effectively.

#### **Recommendation for Legislative Action**

Congress should pass legislation to allow state attorneys general and any other state officials charged by law with overseeing charitable organizations the same access to IRS information currently available by law to state revenue officers, under the same terms and restrictions.

#### **Rationale**

The Panel believes that the responsible sharing of relevant information between federal and state officials will enable these officials to perform their duties more effectively. It also will assist charitable organizations by reducing the burden they often face in responding to duplicative federal and state inquiries for information.

The Panel has some concern about the potential for improper disclosure of shared information by state officials but assumes that there will be sufficient protection if current legal safeguards against such disclosure by state revenue officers are applied to state officials charged with oversight of charitable organizations.

#### 15. PUBLIC DISCLOSURE OF INTERNAL REVENUE SERVICE **DETERMINATIONS**

#### Issue

Effective enforcement of the laws and regulations governing tax-exempt organizations depends, in large measure, on the fair and efficient resolution of disputes between the Internal Revenue Service and charitable entities. When the IRS and an organization settle a dispute, the final determination of tax liability is set forth in a closing agreement. Currently, the IRS may not disclose closing agreements as well as related audit results to the public without the consent of the organization. The Senate Finance Committee staff discussion draft has proposed requiring that closing agreements and other audit results be disclosed to the public without redaction, except that an exempt organization's identity could be deleted if the audit were initiated pursuant to information volunteered by the organization.

#### **Panel Note**

The Panel was unable to reach a consensus on whether the IRS should be required publicly to disclose without redaction closing agreements between the IRS and a charitable organization and related audit results.

On the one hand, public disclosure of closing agreements can help to educate the public and nonprofit community on how the

tax laws are being interpreted and applied. It is important to know whether and how those who have been found to have abused charitable assets are penalized, and it is equally important to know how the IRS interprets various circumstances in enforcing tax laws governing charitable organizations. Such information serves as an educational tool as well as a deterrent to others, and allows the public to know of the improper behavior of the particular organization.

On the other hand, public disclosure could significantly deter resolution of disputes between the IRS and charitable organizations and result in the unnecessary expenditure of resources on litigating disputes that would otherwise have been settled. In the interest of resolving disputes efficiently and expeditiously, charitable organizations often accept a confidential closing agreement containing recitations that do not accurately reflect the organization's view of the matter. Requiring the public disclosure of all closing agreements might result in the organization determining that it must pursue a different course of action that could well result in protracted negotiations on the closing agreements and unnecessary litigation.

#### **SECTION IV**

# Issues the Panel Will Consider for Its Final Report

The preceding report is the first phase of the Panel on the Nonprofit Sector's work. Throughout the spring, the Panel and its associated groups will continue their examination of how to improve the governance and accountability of America's charitable organizations. The Senate Finance Committee staff discussion draft issued in June 2004 will continue to serve as the primary framework for the Panel's deliberations. At the end of this second phase, which will include further consultation with the nonprofit community at large, the Panel will issue a final report. The Panel may continue its work during the summer and offer additional comments in the fall.

## ISSUES REFERRED FROM THE INTERIM REPORT

The issues that will be considered during this second phase fall into two main categories. The first involves topics that the Panel has already begun to examine but that require further study to produce informed recommendations. These issues include:

- 1. Appropriate phase-in of requirements that charitable organizations file annual returns electronically.
- 2. Model policies and guidance on developing conflict of interest policies, policies for reporting suspected misconduct or malfeasance, and codes of ethics.
- 3. Appropriate definition of and minimum activity rules for donor-advised funds, and proposals to require donor-advised fund grantees to acknowledge or certify that the grant will not provide any substantial benefit to the recommending donor/advisor.
- 4. Targeted anti-abuse rules, accompanied by appropriate penalties, for Type III supporting organizations.
- Appropriate rules and accompanying penalties to prevent the participation of charitable organizations as accommodation parties in abusive tax shelters.
- 6. Amending excess benefits and self-dealing regulations to increase the amount of firsttier excise taxes that should be imposed, to establish standards for abating penalty taxes when warranted, and to modify the standard for imposition of penalties.
- 7. Specific federal tax standards that would be most appropriate for adoption at the state level

#### **ADDITIONAL ISSUES FOR EXAMINATION**

The Panel and its Work Groups will also be studying for its final report many other issues raised in the Senate Finance Committee staff discussion draft that were not part of the first phase of its work. As it considers each topic, the Panel will be giving special consideration to the needs and concerns of small organizations. These topics are in four major areas:

#### **Transparency**

- 1. Revisions to Forms 990 and 990-PF and Accompanying Instructions
  The Panel will examine recommendations to revise and restructure the Forms 990 and 990-PF to facilitate more accurate reporting by charitable organizations and to improve the utility of the forms for regulators, donors and the public.
- Uniform Financial Standards for Accounting and Financial Reporting by Charitable Organizations

The Panel will examine proposals to address inconsistencies in reporting between audited financial statements and Form 990 series returns through the establishment of uniform standards in areas such as accounting of fundraising costs, restricted funds, and pledges for future contributions. The Panel will also consider which agencies are most suitable for promulgating accounting and financial reporting standards appropriate for charitable organizations.

3. Periodic Review of Tax-Exempt Status
Both the Senate Finance Committee staff
discussion draft and the Joint Committee
on Taxation's January 27, 2005, report

include proposals to require organizations, other than houses of worship, exempt from taxation under section 501(c)(3) and eligible to receive tax-deductible contributions, to file every five years sufficient information to determine whether the organization continues to be organized and operated exclusively for exempt purposes. The Panel will examine the types of information that would be necessary to make this determination, the cost to charitable organizations of complying with these proposals and the cost of enforcing these proposals, in order to make recommendations in its final report regarding the efficacy of such proposals and, if needed, appropriate alternatives to meet the intended goal.

- 4. Disclosure of Performance Data The Senate Finance Committee staff discussion draft includes a proposal to require organizations with more than \$250,000 in gross receipts to include with their Form 990 a detailed description of annual performance goals and measurements for meeting those goals. The Panel will consider various proposals for how this might be accomplished, the value it might bring to donors and to charities, and the cost of enforcing such a requirement for both the government and charitable organizations to make recommendations in its final report.
- 5. Facilitating Public Access to Data on Public Charities and Foundations Currently, some annual information returns filed by public charities are available online, free of charge, at GuideStar, and both GuideStar and The Foundation

Center provide free access to the most recent Forms 990-PF filed by private foundations. Both of these services currently depend on private charitable support to provide free public access. Both of these services, as well as the National Center for Charitable Statistics, also provide searchable databases on a fee-basis. GuideStar is engaged in another project, NASCONet, in cooperation with the National Center for Charitable Statistics and the National Association of State Charities Officials (NASCO), to create an online database that will permit greater sharing of information between state and federal regulators and the public. The Panel will examine various proposals for joint public-private ventures to facilitate public access to a broader range of data on public charities and private foundations.

#### Governance

1. Structure, Size and Composition of Boards of Directors

The Senate Finance Committee staff discussion draft includes proposals to restrict the size of a charitable organization's governing board, require that no more than one member of a charitable organization's board be directly or indirectly compensated by the organization, and prohibit compensated members from serving as the board's chair or treasurer. The Panel will examine proposals regarding the appropriate size and structure of boards of directors of charitable organizations and will make recommendations as to which standards, if any, should be required

as a condition of charitable organizations' tax-exempt status or encouraged as a matter of good practice.

#### 2. Standards for "Independence" of Board Members and Other Criteria for Board Membership

The Senate Finance Committee staff discussion draft raises questions as to whether boards of directors or audit committees should be required to include "independent" members, and whether rulings by the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission prohibiting certain individuals from serving on the boards of publicly traded companies should also be applied to charitable organizations. Two states currently require boards of charitable organizations to include independent members. The Panel will examine definitions for what constitutes an "independent" board member, including statutory definitions in the two states that require boards of charitable organizations to include independent members, and will make recommendations as to which definitions and conditions for board membership, if any, should be mandated by federal law or encouraged as a matter of good practice.

#### 3. Board Compensation

While most board members of charitable organizations serve without compensation, it may be necessary for an organization to compensate board members if significant work is expected from them or if such compensation is relevant to the board member's ability to serve. Trustees frequently receive compensation for

administering a trust, as well as reimbursement of expenses related to that work. The Panel will consider proposals in the Senate Finance Committee staff discussion draft to prohibit compensation to trustees of a non-operating private foundation or limit such compensation to a statutorily prescribed de minimis amount and will make recommendations regarding which restrictions on board compensation, if any, should be mandated by federal law or encouraged as a matter of good practice.

#### 4. Executive Staff Compensation

Boards of directors are responsible for hiring and overseeing the chief staff officer of the organization, including approval of the compensation of that officer. Boards also are generally involved in approving the overall staff compensation program. The Senate Finance Committee staff discussion draft includes proposals to require boards of directors to approve compensation for all management positions annually and in advance unless there is no change in compensation other than an inflation adjustment. The staff discussion draft also includes a proposal that any compensation consultant to the charitable organization must be hired by and report to the board, and must be independent, and that "compensation arrangements must be explained and justified and publicly disclosed (with such explanation) in a manner that can be understood by an individual with a basic business background." The Panel will examine these proposals and other expert advice to make recommendations in its final report.

#### 5. Travel Expense Policies

Some are concerned that "excessive" travel costs—including what have been described as lavish hotels and first-class or private airplane travel—may be disguised benefits to organization insiders. The Senate Finance Committee staff discussion draft proposals would limit amounts paid by charities for travel, meals and accommodations to the federal government rate or an alternative nonprofit rate, with penalties imposed on both the charity and individual if the set rates are exceeded. The Panel will examine which restrictions on travel expenses, if any, should be mandated by federal law and whether guidelines for appropriate travel expenses could be promulgated by the sector as good practice.

#### Changes to Rules Regulating Excess Benefit and Self-Dealing Transactions with Disqualified Persons and Related Penalties

Transactions between charitable organizations and "disqualified persons" may inappropriately benefit the disqualified person at the expense of the charitable organization, but they can also be a source of lowcost or free resources that the organization can use to further its charitable mission. Transactions between private foundations and disqualified persons are prohibited, whereas in public charities such transactions are prohibited only when they result in "excess benefits" to the disqualified person. The Panel will consider and make recommendations regarding proposals in the Senate Finance Committee staff discussion draft to expand the definition of disqualified persons and extend the ban on self-dealing transactions (except for reasonable compensation) for private foundations to public charities.

# 7. Defining and Controlling Administrative Expenses

Some believe that administrative expenses at some charitable organizations are too high, and that those amounts may indicate private benefit or increment and that insufficient assets are being used for the intended charitable purposes. The Senate Finance Committee staff discussion draft contained proposals for private foundations that would: (a) clarify the definition of "administrative expenses;" (b) require additional supporting documentation if a private foundation's administrative expenses are over 10 percent; and (c) disallow administrative expenses over 35 percent for purposes of the payout requirement. The Panel will examine this proposal in the context of both private foundations and public charities.

#### **Accreditation and Standard-Setting**

#### Criteria for Accreditation and Other Standard-Setting Systems

The Senate Finance Committee staff discussion draft proposed an authorization of \$10 million to the Internal Revenue Service for a charity accreditation program that would be administered by the IRS as well as by other organizations contracting with the IRS. Preference for federal funding would be given to organizations that are accredited by IRS-designated entities that establish best practices for tax-exempt organizations. The Senate Finance Committee staff dis-

cussion draft further recommends that the IRS, in consultation with the Office of Personnel Management, establish appropriate accreditation and governance requirements for charities participating in the Combined Federal Campaign. The Panel will review findings from a study of self-regulatory, certification, and accreditation systems in place among charities and other fields in the United States and will make specific recommendations in its final report for accreditation and standard-setting programs for the sector, whether the IRS or other agencies should be designated to promulgate and administer standards for the sector. Additionally the Panel will recommend what role the sector might play in the area of accreditation and standard-setting.

 Appropriate Mechanisms for Education, Training and Technical Assistance in Self-Regulatory Systems

The Senate Finance Committee staff discussion draft proposed that federal funding be provided to state and national exempt organizations to educate other charitable organizations about good practices, to assist those organizations, particularly small ones, in meeting proper standards and accreditation requirements. and to inform the public of charitable organizations that meet accreditation standards. There are many programs and organizations that provide education, training and technical assistance to help nonprofit boards and staff managers comply with voluntary standards for good practices as well as legal requirements. In addition, the IRS Exempt Organization Division has expanded the educational

tools available on the IRS website to assist charities and foundations in complying with current regulations. The Panel will examine the scope of these current systems to identify effective models, problems in implementation, and needs for expansion of these programs, and make recommendations regarding the Senate Finance Committee staff proposal.

#### **Government Oversight**

- 1. Valuation of Non-Cash Contributions Taxpayers who itemize deductions on their federal income tax returns generally are allowed to deduct the fair market value of property donated to a nonprofit exempt under section 501(c)(3). Concerns have been raised that some taxpayers are inflating the fair market value of donations and that identification and resolution of valuation disputes are difficult and resource intensive for the IRS. The Panel will consider proposals made in the Senate Finance Committee staff discussion draft and in the January 27, 2005, report of the Joint Committee on Taxation as to appropriate safeguards against abuse by charities or taxpayers in the area of valuation and disposition of non-cash contributions that would not unnecessarily discourage the public or corporations from making non-cash contributions to charity. The Panel will consider the following proposals:
  - Establishment of a "baseball arbitration" process (where the arbitrator must choose one side's valuation) to resolve differences between donors and the IRS regarding the accurate valuation of noncash contributions for tax purposes;

- Limiting deductions for contributions of clothing and household items to an aggregate maximum amount of \$500 per year;
- Limiting deductions for other non-cash contributions to the taxpayer's basis in the property or, if less, the fair market value of the property;
- Strengthening present-law appraiser and appraisal rules; and
- Eliminating, in whole or in part, the charitable contribution deduction for property.
- 2. Disposition of Non-Cash Contributions Concerns have also been raised in the Senate Finance Committee staff discussion draft and the Joint Committee on Taxation report that a charitable organization may encounter significant difficulties in disposing of non-cash contributions and that, particularly in the case of donoradvised funds, the charity may hold such assets beyond a reasonable timeframe rather than using those resources to further its charitable mission. The Panel will make recommendations as to any appropriate legal mandates regarding the disposition of donated property by charitable organizations that would maintain the integrity of the tax deduction without forcing charitable organizations to dispose of donated property in a manner that would diminish its financial value to the charity.

# 3. Regulation of International Grantmaking and Charitable Activities

The Senate Finance Committee and the Treasury Department have proposed various alternatives to prevent the diversion of charitable resources to organizations

and individuals that foster or participate in terrorist activities. The Panel will examine proposals developed by other working groups of funders and charities involved in international activities to make recommendations in its final report.

# 4. Consumer Credit Counseling Organizations

Critics have alleged that many credit counseling organizations' activities do not further the traditional purposes that justified tax exemption for such organizations—public education or relief of poverty—and numerous allegations of private benefit and private inurement have been levied against such organizations. In addition, deceptive advertising and fraudulent business practices in the credit counseling industry are a concern. The Senate Finance Committee staff discussion draft and the Joint Committee on Taxation report include proposals for numerous additional requirements for exemption for these organizations. The Panel will examine these proposals in light of their ramifications for other charitable tax-exempt organizations to make recommendations in its final report.

#### 5. Prudent Investing Rules

There have been significant changes in recent years in the regulation of nonprofit investment activity under state law. Internal Revenue Code section 4944 imposes a prudent investor standard of care on private foundations, but that section has not been updated to reflect the changes in state law. The Senate Finance Committee staff discussion draft included a proposal to create a federal prudent investor rule, to be based on state laws,

that would regulate the investment activities of both private foundations and public charities. The Panel will make recommendations on whether such a federal rule should be enacted, how it might best be enforced, and what rules for disclosure of investment holdings would be required of charitable organizations.

- 6. Regulation of Nonprofit Conversions There is concern that nonprofit conversions, currently regulated by state laws and not necessarily involving IRS knowledge, provide opportunities for abuse. The Senate Finance Committee staff discussion draft includes proposals to develop federal nonprofit conversion rules. The Joint Committee on Taxation has also proposed new federal regulations for nonprofit conversions. The Panel will study these proposals to make recommendations in its final report.
- 7. Regulation of Charitable Solicitations As of 2003, 39 states were actively regulating charitable solicitations, including requirements for registration and financial reporting by charities that solicit contributions from the public as well as by professional fundraisers and solicitors. The multiplicity and diversity of filing requirements and exemptions place a substantial burden on charities that solicit in more than one state, and boards of directors are often unclear as to their responsibilities in this area. The Panel will examine various proposals and efforts by the National Association of State Charity Officials (NASCO), state regulators, and experts in nonprofit governance to make recommendations for boards of directors and for possible legislative action.

8. Expansion of Federal Court Equity Powers and Standing to Sue State courts currently have powers to

impose fines and issue injunctions against boards of directors of charitable organizations to stop the boards from taking actions that may be deemed harmful to the organization or place its assets in jeopardy. The Senate Finance Committee staff discussion draft proposes expanding the powers of the U.S. Tax Court so it can enforce the fiduciary duties of boards and take action against charitable organizations and individual board members for dereliction of fiduciary duties. These proposals would permit any director or trustee to bring a private action against a charity, allow any member of the public to bring a complaint regarding a charity to the IRS for review and adjudication. and permit the IRS to seek the removal of any director or board member by the Tax Court. The Panel will review these recommendations in light of current state and federal provisions to protect the assets of and to remedy any detriment to charitable organizations resulting from violations of substantive rules. In its final report, the Panel will also weigh the benefits of expanding the standing rules against the potential costs of diverting those with fiduciary responsibility and depleting charitable assets in defense of frivolous complaints.

Note: There may be additional areas that the Panel deems necessary to study and offer recommendations.

### SECTION V

# Appendix

#### CITIZENS ADVISORY GROUP

Norman R. Augustine, Chairman, Executive Committee, Lockheed Martin Corporation, Bethesda, Maryland

Johnnetta B. Cole, President, Bennett College for Women,

Greensboro, North Carolina

John M. Engler, President and CEO, National Association of Manufacturers, Washington, D.C.

James A. Forbes, Jr., Senior Minister, Riverside Church, New York, New York

Alex S. Jones, Director, Joan Shorenstein Center on the Press, Politics and Public Policy, John F. Kennedy School of Government, Harvard University, Cambridge, Massachusetts

Bob Kerrey, President, New School University, New York, New York

Leon E. Panetta, Founder, The Panetta Institute, Seaside, California

John E. Porter, Partner, Hogan & Hartson LLP, Washington, D.C.

Sharon Percy Rockefeller, President and CEO, WETA, Arlington, Virginia

#### **Staff**

Diana Aviv, Executive Director, Panel on the Nonprofit Sector, and President and CEO, INDEPENDENT SECTOR, Washington, D.C.

Claire Wellington, Vice President, Emerging Issues and Strategic Initiatives, INDEPENDENT SECTOR, Washington, D.C.

#### **EXPERT ADVISORY GROUP**

#### **Co-Conveners**

Joel L. Fleishman, Director, Samuel and Ronnie Heyman Center for Ethics, Public Policy, and the Professions, Duke University, Durham, North Carolina

Marion R. Fremont-Smith, Senior Research Fellow, Hauser Center for Nonprofit Organizations, Harvard University, Cambridge, Massachusetts

#### **Members**

Victoria B. Bjorklund, Partner and Head of the Exempt Organizations Group, Simpson Thacher & Bartlett, LLP, New York, New York

Evelyn Brody, Professor of Law, Chicago-Kent College of Law, Illinois Institute of Technology, Chicago, Illinois

William Josephson, Former Assistant Attorney General-In-Charge, New York State Law Department's Charities Bureau, New York, New York

Lester M. Salamon, Director, Center for Civil Society Studies, Johns Hopkins Institute for Policy Studies, Baltimore, Maryland

C. Eugene Steuerle, Senior Fellow, Urban Institute, Washington, D.C.

Eugene R. Tempel, Executive Director, Center on Philanthropy, Indiana University, Indianapolis, Indiana

#### Staff

Patricia Read, Project Director, Panel on the Nonprofit Sector, and Senior Vice President, Public Policy and Government Affairs, INDEPENDENT SECTOR, Washington, D.C.

Robert Boisture, Legal Team Coordinator, Panel on the Nonprofit Sector, and Member, Caplin & Drysdale, Chartered, Washington, D.C.

#### **GOVERNANCE AND FIDUCIARY RESPONSIBILITY WORK GROUP**

#### **Co-Conveners**

Ellen S. Alberding, President, The Joyce Foundation, Chicago, Illinois Deborah S. Hechinger, President and CEO, BoardSource, Washington, D.C.

#### **Members**

Robert E. Atkinson, Jr., Professor, College of Law, Florida State University, Tallahassee, Florida

Hank Brown, President and CEO, The Daniels Fund, Denver, Colorado

William J. Byron, Research Professor, Sellinger School of Business and Management, Lovola College in Maryland, Baltimore, Maryland

James E. Canales, President and CEO, The James Irvine Foundation, San Francisco, California

Abraham H. Foxman, National Director, Anti-Defamation League, New York, New York

Joyce Godwin, Chair, Board Governance Committee, Presbyterian Health Care Services, Albuquerque, New Mexico

John D. Heubusch, President, The Waitt Family Foundation, La Jolla, California

Stephen H. Hoffman, President, Jewish Community Federation of Cleveland. Cleveland, Ohio

Lynn Huntley, President, Southern Education Foundation, Atlanta, Georgia

H. Peter Karoff, Chairman and Founder, The Philanthropic Initiative, Inc., Boston, Massachusetts

Stanley S. Litow, President, IBM International Foundation, Armonk, New York

Julia I. Lopez, Senior Vice President, The Rockefeller Foundation, San Francisco, California

Jan Masaoka, Executive Director, CompassPoint Nonprofit Services, San Francisco, California

Steve J. McCormick, President and CEO, The Nature Conservancy, Arlington, Virginia

Harry P. Pachon, President, The Tomas Rivera Policy Institute, University of Southern California, Los Angeles, California

Ronald B. Richard, President, The Cleveland Foundation, Cleveland, Ohio

Celia Roady, Partner, Morgan, Lewis & Bockius, LLP, Washington, D.C.

Joan S. Wise, General Counsel, AARP, Washington, D.C.

#### Staff

Peter Shiras, Senior Vice President, Nonprofit Sector Programs and Practice, INDEPENDENT SECTOR, Washington, D.C.

Sharon Light, Associate, Caplin & Drysdale, Chartered, Washington, D.C.

Ruth Madrigal, Associate, Caplin & Drysdale, Chartered, Washington, D.C.

#### **GOVERNMENT OVERSIGHT AND SELF-REGULATION WORK GROUP**

#### **Co-Conveners**

Valerie S. Lies, President, Donors Forum of Chicago, Chicago, Illinois John Marshall, III, President and CEO, The Kresge Foundation, Troy, Michigan

#### **Members**

- Jeff Benz, General Counsel, United States Olympic Committee, Colorado Springs, Colorado
- Peter Berns, Chief Executive Officer, Standards for Excellence Institute, Baltimore, Maryland
- Joel Carp, Senior Vice President, Jewish United Fund/Jewish Federation of Metropolitan Chicago, Chicago, Illinois
- Todd Chasteen, General Counsel,
  Samaritan's Purse, Boone, North Carolina
  Robert Collier President and CEO, Council
- Robert Collier, President and CEO, Council of Michigan Foundations, Grand Haven, Michigan
- Robert Desiderio, Executive Director, Con Alma Health Foundation, Santa Fe, New Mexico
- Scott Harshbarger, Attorney, Murphy, Hesse, Toomey & Lehane, LLP, Boston, Massachusetts
- James Hasson, Jr., Partner, Sutherland, Asbill & Brennan LLP, Atlanta, Georgia
- Irv Katz, President, National Human Services Assembly, Washington, D.C.
- Rushworth Kidder, President, Institute for Global Ethics, Camden, Maine
- Terry Knowles, Registrar of Charitable Trusts, Department of the Attorney General, State of New Hampshire, Concord, New Hampshire
- Carol S. Larson, President and CEO, David and Lucile Packard Foundation, Los Altos, California

- Jennifer Leonard, President and Executive Director, Rochester Area Community Foundation, Rochester, New York
- Ira Machowsky, Chief Administrative and Human Resources Officer, FEGS Health and Human Services System, New York, New York
- Paulette V. Maehara, President and CEO, Association of Fundraising Professionals, Alexandria, Virginia
- Mary McClymont, Chief Executive Officer, InterAction—American Council for Voluntary International Action, Washington, D.C.
- Christine Milliken, Former Executive Director, National Association of Attorneys General, Arlington, Virginia
- Jane Nichols, Chief Executive Officer, Goodwill Industries of the Chattahoochee Valley, Columbus, Georgia
- David Ormstedt, Counsel, Wiggin and Dana LLP, Hartford, Connecticut
- Sally Osberg, President and CEO, Skoll Foundation, Palo Alto, California
- Marcus S. Owens, Member, Caplin & Drysdale, Chartered, Washington, D.C.
- H. Art Taylor, President and CEO, BBB Wise Giving Alliance, Arlington, Virginia
- Myrl Weinberg, President, National Health Council, Washington, D.C.
- Rand Wentworth, President, Land Trust Alliance, Washington, D.C.

#### **Staff**

- Jeanne Ellinport, Director of Communications, Panel on the Nonprofit Sector, Washington, D.C.
- Regina Oldak, Caplin & Drysdale, Chartered, Washington, D.C.

#### **LEGAL FRAMEWORK WORK GROUP**

#### **Co-Conveners**

Robert Boisture, Member, Caplin & Drysdale, Chartered, Washington, D.C. LaVerne Woods, Partner, Davis Wright Tremaine LLP, Seattle, Washington

#### **Members**

Betsy Buchalter Adler, Principal, Silk, Adler and Colvin, San Francisco, California

Michael E. Batts, Director, Nonprofit Services Group, Graham, Cottrill, Jackson, Batts & Hostetter, LLP, Orlando, Florida

Paul S. Berger, Partner, Arnold & Porter, LLP, Washington, D.C.

Eve Borenstein, Attorney at Law, BAM Law Office, Minneapolis, Minnesota

Bonnie Brier, General Counsel, Children's Hospital of Philadelphia, Philadelphia, Pennsylvania

Sharon Cott, Senior Vice President, Secretary, and General Counsel, The Metropolitan Museum of Art, New York, New York

Harvey Dale, Director, National Center on Philanthropy and the Law, School of Law, New York University, New York, New York

Janne Gallagher, Vice President and General Counsel, Council on Foundations, Washington, D.C.

Sheffield Hale, Chief Counsel, American Cancer Society, Atlanta, Georgia

Antonia Hernandez, President and CEO, California Community Foundation, Los Angeles, California

Joshua J. Mintz, Vice President and General Counsel, John D. & Catherine T. MacArthur Foundation, Chicago, Illinois

David Mulvihill, Vice President and General Counsel, Make-A-Wish Foundation of America, Phoenix, Arizona

Michael N. Peregrine, Partner, McDermott Will & Emery LLP, Chicago, Illinois

James R. Schwartz. Government & Regulatory Partner, Manatt, Phelps & Phillips, LLP, Los Angeles, California

Jane Wilton, General Counsel, The New York Community Trust, New York, New York

Ellen Zimmerman, General Counsel, UJA-Federation of New York, New York, New York

#### **Staff**

Patricia Read, Project Director, Panel on the Nonprofit Sector, and Senior Vice President, Public Policy and Government Affairs, INDEPENDENT SECTOR, Washington, D.C.

Lloyd Mayer, Member, Caplin & Drysdale, Chartered, Washington, D.C.

Ruth Madrigal, Associate, Caplin & Drysdale, Chartered, Washington, D.C.

#### TRANSPARENCY AND FINANCIAL ACCOUNTABILITY WORK GROUP

#### **Co-Conveners**

Michael Bailin, President, The Edna McConnell Clark Foundation, New York, New York

Walter D. Bristol, Jr., Executive Vice President, Corporate Operations, and CFO, American Heart Association, Dallas, Texas

#### **Members**

Edward M. Able, Jr., President and CEO, American Association of Museums. Washington, D.C.

Harvey Berger, National Partner-in-Charge, Not-For-Profit Tax Services, Grant Thornton LLP, Vienna, Virginia

Jody Blazek, Partner, Blazek & Vetterling LLP, Houston, Texas

Elizabeth T. Boris, Director, Center on Nonprofits and Philanthropy, Urban Institute, Washington, D.C.

Edward J. Christie, Jr., Vice President and CFO, United Way of America, Alexandria, Virginia

Carol Y. Crenshaw, Vice President, The Chicago Community Trust, Chicago, Illinois

Sara Engelhardt, President, The Foundation Center, New York, New York

Julie Floch, Partner and Director of Not-for-Profit Services, Eisner LLP, New York, New York

John H. Graham IV, President and CEO, American Society of Association Executives, Washington, D.C.

Stephen H. Kattell, Founder, Kattell and Company, P.L., Gainesville, Florida Kathleen Kenyon, General Counsel, Deaconess Billings Clinic, Billings, Montana

La June Montgomery-Talley, Vice President for Finance and Treasurer, W. K. Kellogg Foundation, Battle Creek, Michigan

Robert G. Ottenhoff, President and CEO, GuideStar, Williamsburg, Virginia

Mary Beth Salerno, President, American Express Foundation. New York. New York

Peter R. Tartikoff, Former Chief Financial Officer, American Cancer Society, Atlanta, Georgia

Ana Thompson, CFO and Treasurer, Charles and Helen Schwab Foundation, San Mateo, California

Claudia Volk, President, CJ Volk Associates, Arlington, Virginia

Craig Ziegler, Chief Financial and Administrative Officer. California HealthCare Foundation, Oakland, California

#### **Staff**

Claudia Holtzman, Assistant Director. Panel on the Nonprofit Sector, Washington, D.C.

Regina Oldak, Caplin & Drysdale, Chartered, Washington, D.C.

#### **SMALL ORGANIZATIONS WORK GROUP**

#### **Co-Conveners**

Audrey Alvarado, Executive Director. National Council of Nonprofit Associations, Washington, D.C.

David Nee, Executive Director, William Caspar Graustein Memorial Fund, Hamden, Connecticut

#### Members

Gregg S. Behr, President, The Forbes Funds, Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania

Willard Boyd, Professor of Law and President Emeritus, College of Law, University of Iowa, Iowa City, Iowa

Virginia Esposito, President, The National Center for Family Philanthropy, Washington, D.C.

Charles Gould, President and CEO, Volunteers of America. Alexandria, Virginia

Florence Green, Executive Director, California Association of Nonprofits, Los Angeles, California

Erin Hardwick, Executive Director, South Carolina Association of Nonprofit Organizations, Columbia, South Carolina

Frances Hill, Professor, School of Law, University of Miami, Coral Gables, Florida

Kyle Hybl, General Counsel, El Pomar Foundation, Colorado Springs, Colorado Jane Leighty Justis, Executive Director, The Leighty Foundation, Cascade, Colorado Lawrence Kelly, Executive Director,

Tri-County Community Action Program, Berlin, New Hampshire

Brian Magee, Executive Director, Montana Nonprofit Association, Helena, Montana Richard Movers, Program Officer, Nonprofit Sector Advancement Fund, Eugene and Agnes E. Meyer Foundation, Washington, D.C.

Cao O, Executive Director, Asian American Federation of New York, New York, New York

Miyoko Oshima, President, Southern California Grantmakers, Los Angeles, California

George Penick, President, Foundation for the Mid South, Jackson, Mississippi

Michael Piraino, Chief Executive Officer, National CASA, Seattle, Washington

Willa Seldon, Executive Director, Tides Center, San Francisco, California

Jonathan Small, President, Nonprofit Coordinating Committee of New York, New York, New York

Tim Walter, Chief Executive Officer, Association of Small Foundations, Bethesda, Maryland

#### Staff

Marcia Sharp, Millennium Communications Group

Lloyd Mayer, Member, Caplin & Drysdale, Chartered, Washington, D.C.

Ruth Madrigal, Associate, Caplin & Drysdale, Chartered, Washington, D.C.

#### FUNDING THE WORK OF THE PANEL ON THE NONPROFIT SECTOR

Support for this effort has come from a broad array of organizations, including private foundations, community foundations, public charities, corporate giving programs, and others. Below is a listing of contributions received or committed as of February 16, 2005. Other contributions are in process.

**AARP** 

The Ahmanson Foundation American Cancer Society American Diabetes Association

American Express Foundation

American Heart Association

American Red Cross

The Associated: Jewish Community

Federation of Baltimore
The Atlantic Philanthropies

Berks County Community Foundation

The Boston Foundation Boy Scouts of America Otto Bremer Foundation

The California Wellness Foundation

The Annie E. Casey Foundation

Central New York Community Foundation, Inc.

ChevronTexaco

The Chicago Community Foundation
The Edna McConnell Clark Foundation

The Cleveland Foundation

Robert S. Collier

The Community Foundation for Greater Atlanta

Community Foundation for Monterey County

The Community Foundation of Santa Cruz County

Board Discretionary Grants of the Community Foundation Serving Richmond & Central Virginia Cystic Fibrosis Foundation

Doris Duke Charitable Foundation

The Dyson Foundation

Eastman Kodak Company

Evangelical Council for Financial

Accountability

The Ford Foundation

Bill & Melinda Gates Foundation

GE Foundation

Georgia Power Foundation

The Wallace Alexander Gerbode Foundation

Goodwill Industries International

Miriam and Peter Haas Fund Evelyn and Walter Haas, Jr. Fund

The William and Flora Hewlett Foundation

The James Irvine Foundation

Jewish Community Federation of Cleveland

The Jewish Federation of Greater Los Angeles

Jewish United Fund/Jewish Federation of Metropolitan Chicago

F. Martin & Dorothy A. Johnson Family Fund at the Grand Haven Area Community Foundation

The Robert Wood Johnson Foundation

The Joyce Foundation

Kalamazoo Community Foundation

W. K. Kellogg Foundation

John S. and James L. Knight Foundation

The Susan G. Komen Breast Cancer Foundation

continued

#### FUNDING THE WORK OF THE PANEL ON THE NONPROFIT SECTOR continued

The Kresge Foundation
The Lucent Technologies Foundation
The John D. and Catherine T. MacArthur
Foundation

Foundation
A.L. Mailman Family Foundation, Inc.
March of Dimes Birth Defects Foundation
McKesson Foundation
The Andrew W. Mellon Foundation
Merrill Lynch & Co., Inc.
Charles Stewart Mott Foundation
The Nathan Cummings Foundation
National Alopecia Areata Foundation
The Nature Conservancy
New Hampshire Charitable Foundation
The New York Community Trust
The Samuel Roberts Noble Foundation
North Carolina Community Foundation
David and Lucile Packard Foundation

Partnership for Prevention

Peninsula Community Foundation Pew Charitable Trusts\* The Pittsburgh Foundation Rochester Area Community Foundation Rockefeller Brothers Fund Rockefeller Foundation The Seattle Foundation Sonora Area Foundation Stark Community Foundation Surdna Foundation Herman Art Taylor Triangle Community Foundation UJA-Federation of New York United Jewish Communities United Nations Foundation United Way of America Weingart Foundation YMCA of the USA

<sup>\*</sup>Portion of a grant made to INDEPENDENT SECTOR includes work to support the Panel

The second of th

, the property of the parameter  $(x_1, x_2, \dots, x_n)$  , and the second of the parameter  $(x_1, \dots, x_n)$  , and then

United States Senate

COMMITTEE ON THANKS Washington, DC 20510-6700

September 22, 2004.

Ms. Diana Aviv President and CEO. Independent Sector 1200 18 St. NW, Suite 200 Washington, D.C. 20036.

Dear Ms. Avava

The Senate Finance Committee is deeply concerned about transactions with and within charitable organizations that are mappropriately exploiting charities' tax-exempt status and that may be wrongly enriching individuals and corporations. We are considering a number of comprehensive reforms to protect charities from bad actors and strengther, their accountability to donors.

We are numbful that this is a jurge and diverse sector and our intensions are to encourage good practice, sound governance and responsible work that leads to the improvement of the common good. We are aware and applaud the many efforts around the country by nonprofit sector organizations to consider how best to encourage good. practice and conversely root out the bad actors.

The discussions at the Senate Finance committee roundtable on July 22<sup>nd</sup> convened by our staff provided an opportunity for the airing of some such initiatives and also gave us input regarding legislation that will be forthcoming thereafter. We are gratified by the strong degree of support for enacting tegislation that will facilitate the collection of more useful information, in a format that allows for greater consistency and transparency through electronic filling. These are among a number of issues for which there appears to be immediate support that are important to put in place without delay. We recognize also that for some in the sector there is concern about the broader assues relating to governance and practice and to achieve similar support will take time and careful analysis to construct appropriate legislative remodies and enable good selfregulation.

Foward that cied we encourage you to convene an independent national panel on the non-profit sector to consider and recommend actions that will strengthen good. governance, ethical conduct and effective practice of public charties and private foundations. We excourage you to work with those committed to reform and not let a potential materity prevent substantive improvements by requiring unanimity on proposals. There is great value in your bringing together an independent group of leaders with broad experience whose wisdom might infurm this process. While we cannot be bound by your panel's work, we would welcome the recommendations that will be

forthcoming from such a panel to assist our legislative efforts to improve oversight and governance of charitable organizations, as well as to stimulate or initiate efforts within the charitable community to identify and enforce standards of best practices in the areas of though not limited to governance, transparency, financial accountability, conflicts of interest, fundraising practices, and grant making practices.

Given the organicy of the situation, we encourage you to move forward expeditiously to convene such a body, and share your recommendations as you develop them, particularly as they relate to legislative action. We would appreciate the panel providing a report of its initial findings and recommendations to the Finance Committee by February 2005 and a final report in the spring of 2005.

Thank you for your time and assistance. We ask for a response within 30 days.

Cordially yours.

Charles E. Grassley

Chairman

Max Baucus Ranking Member



The national leadership forum fortering private initiative for the public good

1200 Eighteenth Street, NW State 200 Washington, DC 20036 202-467-6101 www.lndependentSector.org inhalf IndependentSector.org

John R. Seffron

Gary L. Yates Vior Chair

Paula Van Ness Transer

Christopher Cases Secretary

Diana Aviv President and CEO

Board of Directors Edward H. Able, It Angela Clover Blackwell Kathleen W. Burchell Hodding Carter III Robert W. Edgar Lewis M. Feldstein David Ford Sarry Caberman Brian Callagher Marilda Cándara Peter E. Goldberg Davell Hame J. Bryan Histor J.D. Hokoyama Kevin Klose Kathleen D. McCanhy Cabriella E. Monte Karen Narsuski. Hilary Pennington Michael Rubinger Mary Beth Salerno Donald M. Sorwart William Trueboart Casa Wheeler William S. White

The Honorable John W. Gardner (1912-2002) Founding Chair

> Brian O'Connell Founding President and President Emeritor

October 12, 2004

Senator Charles E. Grassley, Chairman Senator Max Baucus, Ranking Member U.S. Senate Committee on Finance Washington, DC 20810-6200

Dear Senator Grassley and Senator Baucus,

Thank you for your letter of September 22, 2004, encouraging INDEPENDENT SECTOR to convene an independent panel on the non-profit sector to consider and recommend actions that will strengthen good governance, ethical conduct and effective practice of public charities and private foundations.

We appreciate your thoughtful comments about the diversity of this important sector and the many good efforts around the country to consider how best to encourage good practice and address the wrongful actions of those who are exploiting charities' tax-exempt status and abusing the public trust. We applaud your desire to engage in serious analysis and deliberation to construct appropriate legislative remedies and enable good self-regulation.

To that end, we are proceeding with convening the independent national panel on the non-profit sector that you have called for and plan to engage a broad spectrum of leaders from charities and foundations of all sizes, as well as technical, legal, and financial experts to assist the panel in its work. As you have requested, the panel will provide an initial report of its findings and recommendations to the Finance Committee in February 2005, and a final report in the spring of 2005. We expect the work of the Panel to continue through the fall and will probably update our recommendations to you at that time.

I have attached a list of the outstanding individuals who have agreed to serve on the panel. We will provide other updates to your staff as we proceed with this important effort.

Thank you for your interest and support for the work of this vital sector. We look forward to working with you in the months ahead.

Sincerely.

Diana Aviv

Diana Aviv President and CEO

# Panel on the Nonprofit Sector Convened by Independent Sector

1200 Eighteenth Street, NW Suite 200 Washington, DC 20036 www.NonprofitPanel.org 202-467-6120 202-467-6101 fax

www.IndependentSector.org 202-467-6100 202-467-6101 fax